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M. Wyllis Bibbins, Robert G. Crocker, Chandra Harrington, Frank Shirley, Jo M. Solet, Members
Shary Page Berg, Joseph V. Ferrara, Susannah Barton Tobin, Alternates

Date: November 9, 2010

To: | Robert W. Healy, City Manager

From: Charles M. Sullivan, Executive Direct{”\tjl

Re: St. James’s Episcopal Church landmark designation report and
recommendation

Attached please find 45 copies, plus the original, of the Final Landmark
Designation Study Report for St. James’s Episcopal Church at 1991 Massachusetts
Avenue. On November 4, 2010, the Cambridge Historical Commission voted 7-0 to
accept the landmark study report and its findings that the property meets the
criteria in the ordinance for landmark designation and to forward the report to the
City Council with a positive recommendation for designation.

The Certificate of Appropriateness for the mixed use condominium development by
the church and Oaktree Development, approved by vote of the Commission on
October 29, 2010, was issued and forwarded to the City Clerk’s office for filing on
November 8, 2010.

If the City Council decides to hold an Ordinance Committee hearing on this matter,
I can provide the City Clerk’s office with the notification list that we have used for
Historical Commission hearings.

If you have any questions, please let me know.



Final Landmark Designation Study Report
St. James’s Church
1991 Massachusetts Avenue, Cambridge, Mass.
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Summary

St. James’s Church reflects the evolution of Porter Square, the traditional center of North
Cambridge, from an outlying district of Cambrid ge to an established neighborhood. It stands on the
site of the historic Davenport Tavern at the intersection that was the nucleus of Porter Square until
the mid-nineteenth century. The product of noted residents of Cambridge as founders, benefactors,
designers and craftsmen, St. James’s Church is architecturally significant as an excellent and rare

example of the Richardsonian Romanesque style in Cambridge, erected contemporaneously with
the great municipal buildings of the 1880s, the Cambridge City Hall and Public Library. It is the
only Massachusetts work of the important ecclesiastical architect of New York, Henry Martyn
Congdon, and the only church of his in this style. The church meets criteria (1) and (2) of Chapter
2.78, Article I1I of the Cambrid ge City Code for landmark designation.

Landmark designation of St. James’s Church was discussed as carly as 1990. The present
recommendation stems from a proposal by the church and Oaktree Development, Inc., to raze the
parish hall complex and construct a new building containing parish facilities and residential
condominiums. The Cambridge Historical Commission secured a commitment from the church to

dedicate proceeds from the project to maintenance and restoration of the historic building and a
guarantee that public access to the garden will be

project on October 29, 2010, and the provisi
November 4, 2010 are incorporated into the

maintained. The Commission approved the
ons of its Certificate of Appropriateness dated
recommended Order for City Council adoption.

Cambridge Historical Commission
November 4, 2010
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St. James’s Church
1991 Massachusetts Avenue, Cambridge, Mass.
Final Landmark Designation Study Report!

I. Introduction

St. James’s Episcopal Church consists of a sanctuary built in 1888, an 1884 parish hall (with
additions of 1912 and 1958), and the Knights Garden, purchased in 1915. The property has been
listed on the National Register of Historic Places since 1983. In 2009 the church agreed to partner
with Oaktree Development, Inc. the owner of an adjacent property (a former carwash) on
Massachusetts Avenue. Concern about the effect of the proposed condominium development on the
church led the Cambridge Historical Commission to initiate a landmark designation study in
December 2009,

A. Ownership and Occupancy

Title to the Saint James’s church property is held by the Episcopal Diocese of Massachusetts. The
buildings consist of a sanctuary and an attached parish house and classroom wing. A thrift shop,
soup kitchen, foster home center and a preschool are among the many programs that formerly
occupied this site, but all of these activities and tenants have left the premises. The parish house is
presently vacant because of anticipated construction, but the sanctuary remains active.

In 2009 the church and the diocese agreed to explore a condominium arrangement with Oaktree
Development, Inc. If the proposed condominium project receives regulatory approval, the church
and Oaktree will pool their land, demolish the parish house, and construct a new building. St.
James’s will own the sanctuary building, the garden, and a new parish house on the first floor of the
new building, and Oaktree will sell the residential condominiums. Some proceeds from the sale will
accrue to St. James’s for the maintenance and restoration of the historic bui Iding.

B. Location and Land Use

St. James’s Church is located at 1991 Massachusetts Avenue, just west of Porter Square. The
property, parcels 49, 50 and 62 on Assessor's Map 181, contains 43,349 square feet of land with a
frontage 179 feet on Massachusetts Avenue and 159 feet on Beech Street. The assessed value of the
land and buildings is $7,730,800.

1. Area Description
St. James’s Church stands west of Porter Square near the Somerville line. It occupies the corner of

Massachusetts Avenue and Beech Street, an intersection which formed the nucleus of North
Cambridge until the establishment of railroad service in 1842.

! Portions of this Teport were prepared by Patricia Bovers, Ann Clifford, Sally Zimmerman, Sarah Burks; and Charles
Sullivan,



Although somewhat removed from the activity of modern Porter Square, St. James’s Church stands
at a heavily-trafficked intersection amidst a number of commercial buildin gs. The adjacent lot at
2013-19 Massachusetts Avenue is occupied by a car wash (now closed); abutting that is the 1896
Engine 4 fire station. Opposite the church on Beech Street, at 1977-79 Massachusetts Avenue, a
former funeral home has been radically remodeled to fill the available zoning envelope. Kingdom
Hall of the Jehovah’s Witnesses (built 1891 as the Woodbridge Gymnasium, reconstructed 2000)
stands at 9 Beech Street behind the church. The neighborhood north of the church is residential,
with single, two- and three-family houses located along Orchard Street and its side streets. Opposite
the church to the south are two, three, and four story late 19" and carly 20" century commercial
blocks lining Massachusetts Avenue.

2. Planning Issues

While the complex of buildings about St. James’s Church has been remodeled over time, the
church itself retains its original appearance. The forecourt of the parish house has devolved to an
unsightly parking lot, while the "Knights Garden," a rare undeveloped area on Massachusetts
Avenue that the church has fortunately retained, suffers from overgrown trees and shrubs and
maintenance challenges.

Calls for the improvement of Massachusetts Avenue are currently being addressed by a Community
Development Department study which is focusing on design review of new projects and the
preservation of historically important buildings. The recent development at 1977-1979
Massachusetts Avenue, which blocked a critical view of the church, brought home the importance
of preserving sight lines of significant buildings. Implementation of the study would ensure that
future development will respect the architectural character of the avenue. Public improvement



Left to right: Herfderson Carriage building, 2801 Massachusetts Avenue; Engine Four, 2029 Massusc:ts Avenue; St.
James’s Church; former Long’s Funeral Home, 1979 Massachusetts Avenue, CHC photo, 10/2010

Left to right: Engine Four, 2029 Massachusetts Avenue; St. James’s Church; former Long’s Funeral Home, 1979
Massachusetts Avenue. CHC photo, 10/2010

projects that could affect the setting of the church could involve streetscape and infrastructure
improvements that have occasionally been proposed for Massachusetts Avenue.

One private development project is active in the vicinity. The redevelopment of the Kaya-Ka
Restaurant site at 1924 Massachusetts Avenue into a 50-room hotel has been permitted but has not
yet begun. The five-story hotel, slightly taller than the Masonic temple next door, would have an
underground parking garage and a large restaurant. No other development projects are known to be
planned for this vicinity. As the renovation project at 1977-79 Massachusetts Avenue makes clear,
changing property values around the church will continue to influence its setting. Gentrification of
the commercial district can be expected to continue.

3. Zoning

St. James’s Church is located in a BA2 zone, which allows for neighborhood retail, offices and
residential use, with an FAR of 1.75 and a 45 foot height limitation for the latter use. The church as
it stands has a FAR of .46, indicating substantial amount of development potential under current
zoning regulations. Religious properties are governed by the terms of the Institutional Use
Regulations; St. James’s is subject to the Existing Lot Status regulations for properties outside of



Institutional Overlay Districts. As an institutional use in existence prior to 1980, St. James’s is
grandfathered as an allowable use.

.% *Q;’& "'"‘R,‘ (% Massachusetts Avenue Zoning Overlay District
0 “}‘» 0N ] New District Boundary in Portee Squase Area
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St. James’s is also located in the Massachusetts Avenue Overlay District, which was enacted in
2008 :

to create a more harmonious and consistent image for the development along the
Avenue and adjacent areas, to encourage good building design and site development
which enhances the pedestrian amenities along the Avenue, to ensure that changes
along the Avenue are compatible with the scale and character of the abutting
neighborhoods, to encourage the retention of existing buildings of historic value and
uses which serve the abutting neighborhoods, and to discourage new development
inappropriate in both scale and design.

Among other criteria, the Overlay District provides that “building facades shall be designed to
enhance the visual quality of the Overlay District, create an environment pleasant and inviting for
the pedestrian and compatible with the residential neighborhoods in close proximity to the district.”
Exceptions from the provisions of the overlay district may be allowed by Special Permit granted by
the Planning Board.

4. Proposed Condominium Project

The proposed Oaktree/St. James’s condominium development will encompass the combined church
and carwash site, which contains about 58,450 square feet. The new structure will have facades on
both Massachusetts Avenue and Beech Street, and will enclose the church and the relocated garden
cn two sides. The ground floor will be mostly occupied by the new parish hall, library, classrooms,
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and related spaces for church use, as well as retail space on Massachusetts Avenue and the entrance
to the condominiums on Beech Street. The remainder of the ground floor and the upper three floors
will contain a total of 46 residential units. Underground parking will be entered from Beech Street.
The new structure will connect with the north transept of the church via a one-story link at
approximately the site of the present connection to the parish hall.

Full Build Out B e Ve N
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Schematic site plan from an early presentation showing the relationship of the new building

to the church. The hatched area denotes the parish hall. Sasaki Associates, 2009

The major issues that were discussed by the CHC and the development team and their architects,
Sasaki Associates, were the height and appearance of the proposed new building; the impact of the
new building on the Massachusetts Avenue streetscape, especially the possibility of it blocking the
views of the church and the adjacent firehouse; the nature of the connection to the church; the size.
and character of the new garden, and the need for public access to it; and the commitment of the
congregation to maintaining the historic church building. Extensive public testimony was received
concerning the impact of the proposed development on the surrounding neighborhood, and on the
church building; the loss of the Knights Garden, an historic green space; and the presence and
appearance of the Beech Street entrance to the parking garage. Many members of the public
pointed to the recent construction of a tall building on the adjacent former Long Funeral Home site
and opposed any more structures of that type.

Regulatory reviews by the Cambridge and Massachusetts Historical Commissions secured a
significant reduction in height of 4’, so that the new building would be lower than the ridge line of
the church. The footprint of the Beech Street wing was moved away from the apse, and the upper
part of the Massachusetts Avenue fagade was set back to maintain a view of the firehouse tower
next door. The Beech Street elevation was enclosed to climinate the view of grade-level parking
under the building. At the same time, the residential neighbors negotiated the appearance of the
elevations facing them and the conditions for use of the space around the perimeter of the new
building. The Cambridge Department of Traffic & Parking exercised review of the drop-off area on
Massachusetts Avenue, the surface parking, and the underground parking. The Cambridge Planning
Board granted the project a Special Permit, subject to staff approval of certain details.



5. Historic Preservation

St. James’s Church was individually listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1983. It
has been protected since 1987 by a perpetual preservation restriction held by the Massachusetts
Historical Commission. This requires that any alterations, new construction or demolition on the

* site conform to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Historic Buildings and be approved by
MHC staff. The premises are also currently protected by the Cambridge Historical Commission as
a potential landmark. Both measures provide for mandatory review and approval of demolition,
alterations, and new construction on the church property.

The CHC evaluated the potential of St. James’s Church for landmark designation in the mid-1980s,
but no action was taken. In 2003 the Commission received a petition from parishioners who were
concerned about the proposed construction of an emergency exit in the Knights Garden. A
landmark designation study was terminated without further action in light of the MHC’s 1987
preservation restriction, but the CHC and St. James’s negotiated an agreement that included a
statement of standards for alterations and new construction on the site (see Appendix A). In 2005
Commission awarded the church a grant of $50,000 (later increased to $100,000) to support
restoration of the bell tower.

In 2008 Oaktree Development, Inc. acquired the abutting carwash site and began to negotiate with
the church about a joint venture. In 2009 Oaktree and the church filed an application for a Special
Permit with the Cambridge Planning Board. Over time the community felt that the church was not
being responsive to its concerns, and the CHC grew concerned that the 2005 agreement was being
disregarded. At a public hearing on December 3, 2009, the CHC voted to accept a citizen petition to
initiate a landmark designation study,

On January 3, 2010 the CHC voted to approve in principle the demolition of the parish house
complex and the general location and size of a new parish house and residential condominium
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St. James Place, with Engine 4 at left and St. James’s Church at right. Sasaki Associates, 2010

building. This approval was conditioned on receiving further information from the church on the
ownership arrangements and financial rationale of the project; a commitment to maintain the
historic sanctuary building; a commitment to public access to the new garden; provision of a
landscape plan; and further review of the new building’s exterior features (Appendix B).

On April 1, 2010 the CHC held another public hearing to review the church’s response to the five
conditions established in January. The church submitted a capital improvement plan and reported
that the Episcopal Diocese of Massachusetts had approved its agreement with Oaktree (Exhibit C).
At the conclusion of the hearing the Commission confirmed its prior approval of the project and
accepted the church’s capital needs projections. The Commission asked for a commitment from the
church to place a significant portion of the income from the development project in an endowment
dedicated to maintenance of the historic building; asked for a written commitment to public access
to the new garden; reiterated its request for a landscape plan; and said it would continue to review
the exterior features.

— .

St. James Place residential condominium entrance wing on Beech Street.
Sasaki Associates, 2010

On July 1, 2010 the CHC accepted St. James’s agreement to create a property endowment from the
proceeds of condominium sales; accepted, with modifications, the church’s written commitment to
public access to the garden, subject to certain restrictions; and repeated its request for a landscape
master plan and further information on the materials of the new building.

On October 29, 2010 the CHC met on site and reviewed the landscape plan and a materials panel
that had been set up outside the sanctuary. The Commission voted to approve a Certificate of
Appropriateness for the project, subject to a) further review the landscape plan by the staff, in
consultation with the landscape historian member of the Commission, which was subsequently
completed, and b) approval of exterior color of the trim by the full commission at a subsequent
meeting.
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A draft of the Preliminary Landmark Designation Report for St. James’s was placed on the
Commission’s website on November 2, 2010, and was distributed to the members of the Historical
Commission and to representatives of the church and Oaktree. The draft was discussed at the
Commission’s November 4, 2010 hearing, the published notice for which listed consideration of
the report. Among the public comments was a request by the rector of St. James’s that installation
of tents for weddings and similar functions, planting of trees, and a possible future columbarium be
exempted from review. The Commission assured the rector that review would not be required for
temporary removable structures or for tree plantings, but that permission would be required to
construct or install a columbarium. Minor, non-substantive editorial revisions were discussed and
are contained in this Final Report, which the Commission voted to approve and forward to the City
Council with the recommendation that it adopt the Order included herein to designate the St.
James’s property as a landmark.

II. Description of the Church

The St. James complex consists of a church built in 1888, an 1884 parish hall (with additions of
1912 and 1958), and the Knights Garden, purchased in 1915. The church itselfis a masonry
structure constructed of brick, freestone, sandstone and slate. The parish hall incorporates brick and
frame additions to the earlier wood-frame parish hall of 1884 and 1912.

e T T e T ———— P — —

Henry M. Congdon, St. James’s Church, so
St. James's Church is a Romanesque Revival structure constructed of puddingstone with sandstone
and pressed brick trimmings. The low, broad effect of the exterior, dominant central tower, bold
use of quarry-faced stone, and Romanesque features recall Henry Hobson Richardson's Trinity
Church, Boston (1872-1876). Like Trinity, the building is pyramidal in form, building up to the
central crossing tower. Unlike that innovative, centrally-planned church, however, St. James’s
Church has a basilica plan with abbreviated transepts. The low roof, bold string courses, and broad
semicircular arches at each entrance stress the horizontal rather than the vertical.

The church is set at a forty-five degree angle to the grid of the surrounding streets, maintaining the
strict east-west axis of a traditional basilica plan. Setting the church at this angle enabled the
architect to maximize square footage of the building on the corner lot and create inviting
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approaches from Massachusetts Avenue. The west facade, traditionally the principal elevation, is
secondary to the south elevation. The full impact of the picturesque composition, with central
crossing tower, porches dormers, buttresses, and a complicated arrangement of forms at the apse,
becomes apparent as one procecds west on Massachusetts Avenue from Porter Square.

St. James’s Church, 1991 Massachusetts Avenue, CHC photo, 10/2010

The porch on the south transept is conspicuously located at the corner of Massachusetts Avenue
and Beech Street, and was originally flanked by elm trees. A small rose window is set into the end
gable of the south transept with five lancets below. A smaller porch contains another entrance; like
the others, this has double oak doors with claborate hinges. The walls are heavily buttressed; gables
and other features are capped with carved crosses, monograms, and floriated pinnacles.

The picturesque massing of the church is complemented by the rich coloration and texture of the
surface treatment, which was described a few days prior to the opening services:

"the material is a variety of very rough puddingstone from Brighton, laid quarry-
faced in irregular rubble, the prevailing color being a rich yellowish brown. The
pointing, on which nearly four months of labor were expended, is the best French La
Farge cement, colored dark with a flush joint, untooled, and gives the wall a
remarkably fine appearance. The trimmings are partly of Kibbe stone from
Longmeadow, Massachusetts and partly of red pressed brick."?

The roof is of grey slate, with copper ridge coverings and painted wood trim. Slate also covers the
base of the tower, becoming a major decorative aspect of the exterior.

? Kibbe stone was a variety of brownstone, so called after its quarry of origin in central Massachusetts.
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The architect, Henry Martyn Congdon (1834-1 922), was the son of Charles Congdon of Brooklyn,
New York, a founder of the New York Ecclesiologist Society in 1848. The “ecclesiological”
movement was an architectural and religious reform movement that grew out of efforts in the
Church of England to revive the forms and practice of medieval worship in the mid 19"-century.
Church architecture, it believed, should express the liturgical ties between Anglo-Catholic worship
in America and the High Anglican church movement in England. Congdon graduated from
Columbia College in 1854, apprenticed to a church architect, John Priest, in Newburgh, New York,
and after Priest’s death formed a partnership with John Littel. Congdon worked briefly with J.
Cleveland Cady, and from 1901-1922, he was in partnership with his son, Herbert Wheaton
Congdon, but for most of his career, Congdon practiced independently. He was the architect of
numerous Episcopal churches in cities throughout the eastern United States. In his 1935
undergraduate thesis, architectural historian John Coolidge wrote:

One of the most prominent and prolific Episcopalian architects of the later 19"
century ... [Congdon] is one of the very few who developed a personal style, and
held to it continuously. Some of his earlier churches suggest strong Victorian Gothic
tendencies, but by the middle seventies he was well embarked on his own manner.
The reward of this persistency came in the later *70s and ‘80s when his style was not
infrequently imitated.

Architectural historian Sarah Bradford Landau wrote:

Bold surface detail, large dominant towers, and a picturesque grouping of clements
characterize Congdon’s churches. Trinity Church (1873, 1874-92) in Portland,
Connecticut, in the Victorian Gothic mode, and the strikingly colorful Saint James
Episcopal Church (1888) in Cambridge, Massachusetts, a Richardsonian building,
are outstanding examples of his distinctive manner.

The majority of Congdon’s churches are based on carlier contemporary or historical English
models and clearly express the strong Anglo-Catholic liturgical link to England. Bold surface
detail, a large dominant tower, and the picturesque grouping of elements are characteristic of his
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church designs, regardless of style. Among his other churches, St. Michael’s, High Street
(Brooklyn), the Church of the Atonement (Brooklyn), and Calvary Church (Utica, NY) are often
cited as particularly fine.

The general configuration and stylistic associations of St. James’s Church recall H.H. Richardson's
Trinity Church (1872-1 876) in Boston, and, like Trinity Church, expressed the theological direction
-of the congregation. These two structures exemplify a new type of church building that had
developed as a result of the controversies in the mid to late nineteenth century between the Anglo-
Catholic ("High Church") and the Evangelical ("Low Church") factions of the Episcopal Church in
America. The Reverend Phillips Brooks, rector of Trinity Church in Boston and a leader of the
"Low Church" movement, supported Richardson's innovative use of a centralized Greek cross plan
for Trinity Church. This type of plan shifted the focus from the altar to the pulpit, thereby
expressing the Evangelical emphasis on the sermon rather than the liturgy. The broad nave, round
apse plan with wide transepts, and the dominant crossing tower of St. James’s Church directly
recall those of Trinity Church and reflect the founders’ alignment with the Evangelical position.

Congdon’s early designs typically expressed a strong Anglo-Catholic liturgical link to
contemporary churches in England. An early work in this manner is St. John’s Church, Dubuque,
Iowa (1878) with a dominant west end tower, steep roof, and pointed arches. It is strongly
reminiscent of the Church of the Advent (1875-88, Sturgis & Brigham), which was intended to be
the great symbol of Anglo-Catholicism in Boston, St. James’s Church in Cambridge and Christ
Church, Danville, Pennsylvania (1881-83) depart from Congdon’s earlier tendencies and
demonstrate the influence of Trinity Church, Boston. With bolder massing, proportionately larger
features, and the tower placed over the crossing, the churches assumed a pyramidal form. As St,
James neared completion, Congdon became involved with projects for Grace Church Cathedral,
Topeka, Kansas and with a competitive design for the Cathedral of St. John the Divine in New
York City. Congdon’s design for the cathedral emphasized the same functional aspects for
congregational access to the liturgy that were present in the plan of St. James.

In November 1889, the Cambridge Tribune carried a detailed description of the sanctuary.?

"The whole of this broad and spacious roof is open timbered in Georgia pine and
ceiled with cypress, its heavy trusses, lighter rafters, columns, capital mouldings,
and cusped work making up a simple but beautiful whole, All this woodwork is
stained into a deep coloring in harmony with the treatment of the walls, the
prevailing tints of which are terra-cotta, olive and old gold, with horizontal bands of
purely decorative meaning, and the deep window splays accented with contrasting
tints."

The decorative scheme of the chancel, donated in its entirety by Mary Longfellow Greenleaf in
memory of her husband James Greenleaf, is richer and more costly than that of the nave. A
contemporary wrote that "the memorial chapel ... is one of the two or three noblest in the diocese.
In fact, the architect says that there are not many in the country that surpass it, either in amplitude
- or nobility. It consists of a choir with stalls for thirty choristers and six clergy, and a sanctuary of
apsidal form, the circle being completed by the communion rail." The alcoves to either side of the
choir, housing the organ and a font, are semi-octagonal in plan to conform to the lines of the lot.

3 The following description is intended for informational reference only; landmark designation is confined to the
publicly-visible exterior architectural features of the building



A

L4

ik mprerg g

T

A large round arch, in red pressed brick, divides the choir from the nave, and a high and narrow
arch divides the sanctuary from the choir. An oak screen rises into buttresses of oak supporting a
tall brass standard gas post. The north and south chancel aisles are scparated from the choir by
arches supported by clustered columns of Ohio sandstone crowned with carved foliate capitals of
Kibbe stone. The principal features of the sanctuary are the carved oak wainscot, rising nine feet
above the floor, and the dark stained framing and paneling of the tower, rising above the crossing.

St. Jam

The interior decorative program of St. James’s reflects the impact of Trinity Church in the
development of interior design in the latter part of the nineteenth century. The decoration of the
walls Was designed by E.J. Neville Stent of New York under the direction of the architect, and
executed by Stent's craftsmen. According to the American Architect and Building News, Stent was
an English-born architect and designer who "received his professional training at a time when many
English architects were devoting themselves enthusiastically to the study of colored decoration. . . .
He became widely known in New York as an expert designer and decorative colorist, as well as a
skillful architect, particularly in ecclesiastical work." The collaboration of architect, artist, and
craftsman at St. James’s Church is reminiscent of the historic collaboration at Trinity between



15

Richardson, John Lafarge and his craftsmen on the first large scale decorative program desi gned
and executed by American artists.

The walls of St. James’s, originally painted terra-cotta, olive and old gold, would have
complemented the original stained glass. (Unfortunately, much of the original color scheme has
been covered with pastel paint; the overall scheme would have resembled the interior of the
recently-restored Cambridge Public Library.) The six stained glass windows of the sacristy were
designed by Hemming of London, a pupil of Clayton & Bell, a firm whose windows were
frequently praised by The Ecclesiologist, an English publication which helped determine the form
of High Victorian Gothic architecture in England and America. Locally, the firm contributed to the
Old South Church (Cummings & Sears, 1875), Trinity Church (Richardson, 1872-1876), and the
Church of the Advent (J.H. Sturgis, 1881-1882). The six painted dormer windows depicting angels
in the choir of St. James’s Church are by the New York studio of the English-born stained glaziers
Joseph and Richard Lamb.

3 ST B ST SRRk
Henry M. Congdon. St. James’s Church. West elevation, with rose window

Since the building fund was not sufficient at the time of construction to complete the stained glass
window program, the parish adopted a plan of installing memorial windows over time. "Cathedral
glass in neutral tints and of an inexpensive quality" supplied by Redding, Baird & Co. originally
filled approximately thirty windows. In addition to the sanctuary, dormer and rose windows, two
memorial windows were in place at the opening services of the church in November 1889. Installed
by Phillips, Slocum & Co. of Boston and located on the west facade and in the sacristy, these
original windows depict the Good Shepherd and Easter lilics.

The rose window and three lancets on the west wall have been attributed to the Tiffany studio. The
Rice Memorial Window, “Christ the Light of the World” is a standard Tiffany design based on a
painting by Millais of the same title. Two other memorial windows dedicated to Samuel Batchelder
and George Dexter, founders of the church, are also likely to be by Tiffany.
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Other potentially significant windows have been attributed to Harry Eldredge Goodhue or his son
Wright Goodhue. The elder Goodhue, brother of the prominent Gothic Revival architect Bertram
Goodhue, is considered a pioneer of stained glass design in America. Among the likely Goodhue
windows at St. James’s are the Dorcas window on the north wall and windows in the baptistry as
well as a window dedicated to founder Mary Longfellow Greenleaf and the Easter windows of the
north transept. A Madonna and child window on the north transept is by Reynolds, Francis and
Rohnstock and was installed in 1935. Later windows are less sympathetic to the interior decorative
program than those which were installed under the direction of the overseeing architect.

William L. Dodge, a vestryman who had designed the parish house in 1884, directed the masonry
work on the church, and he and John A. Dodge, the junior warden, a carpenter born in Nova Scotia,
constructed the roof and superintended all the finish work. The pews, altar, bishop's chair, and
credence shelf were personally made by Dodge. Other local suppliers, such as Dugan & Rutherford
of East Cambridge and Sands of North Cambridge, provided the cut stone and exterior brick. Irving

& Casson, specialists in interior woodwork and furnishings since the 1860s, provided the chancel
furniture, wainscot and pulpit.

View of the tower from the north, with the minister’s tudy (1912} at left. CC phto, 10.2010

The Parish House is the only building on the site older than the present church. It was constructed
in 1884 at the back of the original church, which was an 1871 frame Gothic Revival building facing
Beech Street. Designed and built by William Dodge, a local builder, the Parish House is a 2Y-story
wood frame Stick Style structure. The Parish House was enlarged in 1912 with an addition
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containing the minister’s study (William P. Richards, architect). In 1958, the original church was
demolished and the Parish House was again enlarged to its present appearance with a one-story
brick structure fronting the parking lot off Beech Street. A wood frame classroom with a stucco
exterior was added about the same time. An emergency exit from the Parish House into the Knights
Garden was added in 2003.

. The minister’s study, adc to the parsh hous (rear) in 1912
. History of the Property

In the seventeenth century, the location of St. James’s Church was the junction of roads in
Cambridge and Charlestown, linking these villages to Concord and Medford. The Cambridge
commen land divisions of 1703 and 1724 made the land available for settlement. Tradesmen soon
found the location advantageous, and by the mid-1 8" century, various enterprises had been
established at the crossroads, including blacksmiths, wheelwrights, and chaise makers. The Cooper-
Davenport Tavern, built in 1757 on the future site of St. James’s church, anchored the village. The
opening of the Middlesex Turnpike (present Hampshire and Beacon streets) in 1805 and the
establishment of a cattle market and hotel opposite the tavern early in the 19™ century expanded
commercial traffic. When the F itchburg Railroad began passenger service in 1842, the focus of the
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area permanently shifted east to the intersection of Massachusetts and Somerville avenues. Porter
Square developed into today’s familiar shopping and transportation center in the 1950s.

St. James’s Church occupies a comer site where the Concord Road (Massachusetts Avenue) swung
tangent to the Charlestown line and connected with the Medford and Charlestown Roads via Beech
Street. The deed history involves a six-acre plot of land over the Charlestown line that was annexed
to Cambridge in 1802. Bordered on the southwest by common lands in Cambridge, on the
northwest by land owned by John Watson, and by roads on the northeast (now Elm Street) and
southeast (now Beech Street), this tract was purchased by Jonathan Gove from Jonathan Bowers in
1700. In 1706 Gove purchased half an acre on the south side of Massachusetts Avenue opposite
Beech Street from the Proprietors of Common Lands in Cambridge and built a house and barn. He
purchased Lot 21 of the 1724 division of the Cow Common from Amos Marrett in 1726, extending
his holdings from Beech Street nearly to Russell Street along Massachusetts Avenue and from
Massachusetts Avenue to Elm Street along Beech Street.

When Gove moved to Weston in 1729, he conveyed his house and land to his brother-in-law
Jonathan Cooper. In 1759, Jonathan Cooper Jr. purchased the lot on the west corner of Beech Street
~ and Massachusetts Avenue, which became the site of the Cooper-Davenport Tavern and later of St.
James’s Church. He converted the house, which had been erected on this land in 1757-1 758, into a
- tavern some time before died in 1765. Three years after Cooper's death, his widow sold the tavern
and the title passed through a series of Boston and Newton merchants.

John Davenport purchased the tavern in 1806 and erected an extensive addition. Sylvester Edson,
of Woodstock, Vermont, acquired the property in 1830 and the land across the road in 1833, thus
acquiring most of the Jonathan Cooper holdings of nearly a decade earlier. Edson erected the Cattle
Market Hotel, which would be renamed Porter's Hotel by a subsequent owner, in 1831.

The Charles River Bank foreclosed on Edson's land and buildings, and in 1837 sold them to George
Meacham, a speculator, Ebenezer Kimball, a stagecoach operator, and Zachariah Porter, a dealer at
the Brighton Cattle Market. The property comprised over seventeen acres, extending from
Massachusetts Avenue to Creighton Street and across the railroad tracks to present Upland Road.
Feed lots, a cattle market and slaughterhouses were established on open land opposite Beech Street
in the 1830s and continued in operation through 1868. The Cambridge Market Bank, established by
Porter and Meacham in 1851, temporarily shared its quarters near the hotel with the mission
founded in 1864 that became St. James’s Church.

Much of the land on which St. James’s now stands was owned by Mary Meacham, who inherited it
from her father George in December 1869. The congregation purchased the first lot fronting on
Beech Street from Meacham in February 1870 and put up a new church in 1871. In April 1882, the
rector, Edward Abbott, purchased a lot behind the first for a parish house. Abbott held the land in
trust for the Trustees of Donations to the Protestant Episcopal Church in the Diocese of
Massachusetts until "the building thereon to be erected is completed and fully paid for." In April
1885 the corner lot with the historic Davenport Tavern was purchased from Meacham for $1,000
after it was discovered that the parish house had been built 18” over the lot line. When the present
sanctuary building was constructed, the early Cooper-Pigeon section of the tavern was razed and
the Davenport addition was moved to 81 Eustis Street, Somerville, where it still stands.
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. P L s [5G . R L :
Left to right: Cooper-Davenport Tavern (1757-58); Parish House (1884); original church (1871)

The introduction of a horse trolley on Massachusetts Avenue in 1856 and the subsequent
construction of affluent suburban homes on the avenue in the following years were among the
factors affecting the demise of the cattle market. In his sermon on June 20, 1886, the Rev. Edward
Abbott described the neighborhood in 1864, when the church was founded as a mission, thus:

North Cambridge was not then the solid and substantial precinct of the city it is now,
but an outlying district on the pleasant country road leading to West Cambridge. The
railroad was here, and the station, and the horse-cars and Porter’s Tavern and a bank
and a great cattlemarket between the railroad and the avenue; but our pleasant
stately North Avenue, with its handsome houses and bricked sidewalks and ample
foliage was a thing of the future.

In 1892, the church purchased a strip of land along Beech Street totaling 7,965 square feet from
Samuel F. Woodbridge of Cambridge for $1.00 "on the condition that no building shall be erected
on said premises nearer than ten feet to the line of said Beech Street within ten years." It was held
by the rector subject to a mortgage from Woodbridge. This prompted the subdivision of
Woodbridge's remaining land, which occupied the entire southwest corner of Beech and Orchard
Streets. On this stood the 1891 "Woodbridge Gymnasium," which was purchased by the Men's
Club of the church and operated as a private hall for dances and recitals; it was sold during the
depression to the Kingdom Hall of Jehovah’s Witnesses. The original 1871 church was demolished
in 1958 to allow construction of a parking lot and a classroom addition to the parish house.

A .": 3 a.fw x:hi;-nv.w-ﬂ s v, .':.-':.;:.':'-_- ]
Henry M. Congdon, “Plan of the Proposed New Church [with the ori
Cambridge Tribune, June 16, 1888
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Fearing the encroaching commercial expansion on M
adjoining property west of the church in 191 5, demol
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IV. Significance of the Property
A. Historical Significance

St. James’s Church reflects the evolution of Porter Square from an outlying rural district and cattle
market to an established neighborhood. The church stands at the important junction of
Massachusetts Avenue and Beech Street, which has functioned as a principal link between
Cambridge, Concord, Charlestown and Medford since 1638 and was the center of activity in North
Cambridge until the Charlestown and F itchburg railroads were established in 1843. The site is also
the location of the historic Cooper-Pigeon-Davenport Tavern (1757-1958), one of Cambridge’s
important lS"‘-century taverns, and a witness to the events of April, 1775, and the skirmishes that
attended the march of British regulars to and from Lexington and Concord.

The historic importance of the church also derives from the many prominent Cambridge families
associated with it as founders and benefactors. The mission was founded in 1864 by a retired
Episcopal priest, Rev. Andrew Croswell and his wife, Caroline Augusta Greenleaf Croswell, with
the support of the Rev. Dr. F.D. Huntington and local laymen and philanthropists Samuel
Batchelder and George Dexter. The first church building, constructed on Beech Street in 1871, was
the gift of Mrs. James (Mary Longfellow) Greenleaf, the sister of Henry Wadsworth Longfellow
and sister-in-law of the first rector. Mrs. Greenleaf, like Batchelder and Dexter, was a parishioner
of Christ Church, Cambridge's oldest Episcopal Church. The rector there tried to persuade her to
have the new church consecrated as a mission of Christ Church. Instead, Mrs. Greenleaf formally
transferred her membership from Christ Church to St. James’s Church in 1878.

Rev. Dr. Edward Abbott began his twenty-five-year rectorship in 1878. During his tenure the first
parish house was built, land for a new building purchased, and the present sanctuary building
erected. Mary Greenleaf donated the cost of the entire chancel, stained glass windows, the free-
standing altar, and the Cole & Woodbury organ in her husband's memory. The building was
consecrated in June 1900 by Rev. Huntington, Bishop of Central New York, who had presided over
the first services of the mission in 1864.

B. Architectural Significance

St. James’s Church is architecturally significant as the first Romanesque church to be completed in
Cambridge, and as the only church in Massachusetts designed by the noted New York architect,
Henry Martyn Congdon. While Henry Hobson Richardson's Sever Hall (1878) and Austin Hall
(1883) at Harvard University initiated the Richardsonian Romanesque style in Cambridge, it was
not until the late 1880s that the style fully arrived. St. James’s Church, the Rindge Manual Training
School, the Cambridge Public Library, and Cambridge City Hall were all erected in 1888 and 1889,
and the Harvard-Epworth Methodist Church followed in 1891.

C. Relationship to Criteria for Landmark Designation

The church is significant under Criterion 1 for its associations with individuals who were important
in the history of the city, including Reverend Andrew and Caroline Greenleaf Croswell, Mary
Longfellow Greenleaf, and the Reverend Edward Abbott, and for its associations with the
development of North Cambridge as a residential suburb. The building is also significant under
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Criterion 2 for its design and its associations with the architect, Henry Martyn Congdon, and with
the ecclesiological movement in 19% century church architecture.

V. Recommendations
A. Preservation Options

St. James’s Church was individually listed on the National Register of Historic Places on June 30,
1983 as part of Cambridge's Multiple Resource Area nomination. National Register status protects
the building from the adverse effects of federally- or state-licensed, permitted or funded projects.
The National and State Registers provide limited protection from public projects through review by
the Massachusetts Historical Commission.

The Massachusetts Historical Commission holds a perpetual preservation restriction on the
property, which was granted in 1987 as a condition of receiving a Massachusetts Preservation
Projects Fund grant.

The Cambridge Historical Commission initiated landmark designation proceedings on December 3,
2009, initiating a one-year study period during which it reviewed the church’s application for a
Certificate of Appropriateness to raze the parish hall complex and construct a new building on the
site. After securing many changes to the design and a number of conditions to ensure that the
project will benefit the preservation of the historic church sanctuary building and ensure public
access to the garden, the Commission approved a Certificate of Appropriateness on October 29,
2010 (the Certificate is dated November 4, 2010 and is incorporated herein). Adoption of the
proposed landmark designation order will ensure that the project will be built according to the
approved plans and conditions. If the order is not adopted the project need not conform to the
certificate.

B. Effect of Landmark Designation
The purpose of landmark designation is contained in the enabling ordinance:

preserve, conserve and protect the beauty and heritage of the City and to improve the
quality of its environment through identification, conservation and maintenance of . . . site
and structures which constitute or reflect distinctive features of the architectural, cultural,
political, economic or social history of the City; to resist and restrain environmental
influences adverse to this purpose; [and] to foster appropriate use and wider public
knowledge and appreciation of such . . . structures . . .

The enabling ordinance for landmarks states:

The Historical Commission by majority vote may recommend for designation as a landmark
any property within the City being or containing a place, structure, feature or object which it
determines to be either (1) importantly associated with one or more historic persons or
events, or with the broad architectural, aesthetic, cultural, political, economic or social
history of the City or the Commonwealth or (2) historically or architecturally significant (in
terms of its period, style, method of construction or association with a famous architect or
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builder) either by itself or in the context of a group of structur& - - - (Cambridge City Code,
Article 111, Chapter 2.78.180a)

Under Chapter 2.78, Article III of the City Code, “the Historical Commission . . . shall review all
construction, demolition or alteration that affects the exterior architectural features, other than
color,” of the landmark. Chapter 2.78.210 states, “No building permit for alteration of an exterior
architectural feature of a landmark . . . and no demolition permit for demolition or removal ofa
landmark . . . shall be issued by the City or any department thereof until the certificate required by
this article has been issued by the Historical Commission . . .”

A certificate of appropriateness, hardship or non-applicability is issued by the Historical
Commission depending on the nature of the alteration or construction proposed for the landmark.
Applications for certificates of appropriateness or hardship are reviewed by the Commission at a
public hearing, with 14 days notice provided to affected parties by legal notice and first class mail.
The staff issues certificates of non-applicability administratively. The intent of the review process
is to prevent “developments incongruous to the historic aspects, architectural significance or the
distinctive character of the landmark” (2.78.220). The designation report may be drafted to allow
specific alterations or development opportunities to take place. In the case of St. James’s, the
Certificate issued subsequent to the October 29 meeting of the commission is incorporated by
reference into the proposed Order desi gnating the. property as a landmark.

The other option for preservation of St. James’s sanctuary building is placement of a preservation
easement on the property under the provisions of M.G.L. Chapter 184. Preservation easements
protect significant property in a similar manner to landmarking, that is, through review and
approval of the Historical Commission and issuance of a certificate of appropriateness or hardship
for any proposed repairs or alterations that affect protected portions of the property. Unlike
landmarking, a preservation easement may have certain financial benefits for an owner of
depreciable property, and can protect significant interior features. As noted above, St. James’s is
currently protected by a preservation easement held by the Massachusetts Historical Commission.

C. Staff Recommendation

The staff recommends that the Commission 1) find that St. James’s Church meets the criteria for
landmark designation and 2) vote to recommend that the City Council designate the property as a
protected landmark under Article 111, Chapter 2.78, pursuant to an Order substantially as set forth in
Article VII below.

VL. Standards and Criteria

Under Article 111, the Historical Commission is charged with reviewing any construction,
demolition or alteration that affects the exterior architectural features (other than color) of a
designated landmark. This report describes the exterior architectural features that are among the
characteristics that led to consideration of the property as a landmark. Except as the order
designating or amending the landmark may otherwise provide, the exterior architectural features
described in this report should be preserved and/or enhanced in any proposed alteration or
construction that affects those features of the landmark. The standards following in paragraphs A
and B of this section provide specific guidelines for the treatment of the landmark described in this
report.
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A. General Standards and Criteria

Subject to the review and approval of exterior architectural features under the terms of this report,
the following standards shall apply:

1. Significant historic and architectural features of the landmark shall be preserved.

2. Changes and additions to the landmark which have taken place over time are evidence of
the history of the property and the neighborhood. These changes to the property may have
acquired significance in their own right and, if so, that significance should be recognized
and respected.

3. Deteriorated architectural features should be repaired rather than replaced. When
replacement of architectural features is necessary, it should be based on physical or
documentary evidence.

4. New materials should, whenever possible, match the material being replaced in physical
properties, design, color, texture, and appearance. The use of imitation replacement
materials is discouraged.

5. Surface cleaning of a landmark shall be done by the gentlest possible means. Sandblasting
and other cleaning methods that damage exterior architectural features shall not be used.

6. Additions should not destroy significant exterior architectural features and should not be
incongruous to the historic aspects, architectural significance, or distinct character of the
landmark, neighborhood, and environment. 7

7. Additions should be designed in such a way that, if they were to be removed in the future,
the essential form and integrity of the landmark would not be impaired.

" B. Suggested Review Guidelines for Future Alterations

Section 2.20 of Article III sets general guidelines to be considered by the Historical Commission in
reviewing changes to landmarks. Among other things, the Commission is directed to consider

the historic and architectural value and significance of the site or structure, the general design,
arrangement, texture and material of the features involved, and the relation of such features or
structures in the surrounding area.

In all cases, a Certificate of Appropriateness, Hardship, or Non-Applicability must be issued by the
Historical Commission prior to making any changes to a landmark. The Commission cannot
regulate the interiors of landmarks nor can it control changes to exterior architectural features not
subject to public view. Nonetheless, Certificates of Non-Applicability must generally be issued for
those changes. Application for most certificates are reviewed by the Commission at a public
hearing, in accordance with Article III.

During the interim protection period, while the commission was studying the potential landmark
designation, the church applied for a Certificate of Appropriateness to demolish the parish house
complex and construct a new building. Although restoration of the church sanctuary building is not
part of the present project, the Commission applied the general principles listed above to protect the
building to the greatest extent possible (see Appendix, Certificate of Appropriateness in Case
2445).
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VII. Proposed Order

ORDERED:

That the Free Church of Saint James (Episcopal) aka St James’s Church at 1991 Massachusetts
Avenue be designated as a protected landmark pursuant to Chapter 2.78, Article III, Section
2.78.180 of the Code of the City of Cambridge, as recommended by vote of the Cambridge
Historical Commission on November 4, 2010. The premises so designated are the historic church
sanctuary building and the surrounding areas shown as parcels 49, 50 and 62 on Assessor's Map
181 and are recorded in Book 9979, Page 569, at the Middlesex South Registry of Deeds.

This designation is justified by the important associations of the church with the historical, social
and architectural history of Cambridge, specifically in that its sanctuary building is the first of two
Richardsonian Romanesque churches in Cambridge; the church was the home of an early and
important ministry and the product of many prominent Cantabrigians as founders, benefactors and
designers of the church; and that the church sanctuary building is the only Massachusetts example
of the work of Henry Martyn Congdon, a noted New York ecclesiological architect.

This designation confirms the approval of demolition and new construction described in a
 Certificate of Appropriateness dated November 4, 2010 (pursuant to a vote on October 29, 2010)
issued by the Cambridge Historical Commission in Case 2445. The effect of this designation shall
be to confirm the demolition and construction activities approved by said Certificate of
Appropriateness (subject to compliance with other applicable laws and permits) and to require
further review by the Cambridge Historical Commission and the issuance of a Certificate of
Appropriateness, Hardship or Non-Applicability before any other demolition and/or construction
activity can take place within the designated area or any action can be taken affecting the
appearance of the buildings that would in either case be visible from a public way or place,
including the garden to which the church has committed to provide public access. The Commission
shall not consider and shall have no jurisdiction over interior features or improvements, nor over
any portion of the buildings not visible from a public way or place.

In making determinations with respect to further alterations to the work approved by said
November 4, 2010 Certificate of Appropriateness or for alterations to the historic church sanctuary
building itself, the Commission shall be guided by the terms of the landmark designation report,
and by Section VI, Standards and Criteria, and by the applicable sections of Chapter 2.78, Article
II1, of the Cambridge Municipal Code.
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Appendix A. Agreement between St. James’s Church and the Cambridge' Historical Commission,
March 2005 ' . ’ )

The Free Chusich of St. James (Episcopal) aka St. Jatoes's Chiirch, 1991 Massachusetts .
Avenue, and the Cambridge Historical Commission, heteby dgree as follows: :

_ Tﬁgt_S.t'-]a.ndes‘é Church, by a vote of its Rector; Wardens andVestry taken 6n Decembe.: 21,
2004, be.placed on the city’s Designated Property List as a properly restricted by the terms

. ofa Preservation iction: Agreement between the ‘Commonwealth of MassachuSegts by
and through the Massachusetts Histosical Cominission and St: James's Episcopal Church,
which Preservation Restriction Agréemest was executed on February-19, 1987 and tecorded e
-at the Middlesex South Registxy of Deeds, book 17887, page 444; the premises so restricted. .
. -ate defified as parcels 49, 50 and 62 of map 181 of the Cambridge assessor’s records and '
secorded in book 9979, page 569 of the Middlesei South Régisery of Deéds; and .
Thiat the Cambridpe Historical Commission, by a vote takeq on January 6; 2005, agrees to .
."*place St. James's Church on the City of Cambridge's Designated Property Street Listingand . :
to notify the Massachusetts Historical Commission wh'en'i:ve; application is made to theCity . |
. of Camibridge for construction.activity on the restricted premises that would affect the "
appearance of the restricted premises at 1991"Massachusetts Avenue or-for any alteration of ",
., those prethises othet than as specified i section 3 of tire Preservation Restdction - )
'-Agféemept;a.nd e ST T C .
. Thit placeteant of St. James's Churchron the Designated Propesty Street Listing tecognizes .
the significant assodiations .of these prerises with petsons and events significant to the ™ :
cultura] and socjal history of the City and that thege pramises are architectyrally significantin -
terms of their petiod and style of architectura and theit asspciations with 2 famous architect;
and. - . A R s
*'* That, historically; St James's Church is located oa the site of an important 18%-ceatury . - .
tavern'in Cambridge and'at the intersection of two roads protninent in the settdement and’ * -
' Gansportation patterns of 17 ind 18® teptuury Gambridge afid is also associated, through jts =
founding, with individuals, including Samuel Batchelder and Mazy Longfellowr Greealeaf, -
" . prominentis -19"‘-,cegt§ny Cambridge societyyand that architecturallyit is sighificant as the |
. first Richardsopiin Romanesque church: in Cambtidge; 25 the only building designed by -
natonally-rioted chutch architect Heriry Congdon in Massachusetts, and as a fully-developed
. ‘expréission of the ititégrafion of art and drchitecture that chideterined late 19 century
chorch architectude, with construction, fittings; and finishes by tenowngd studios and

‘Cambridge Historical Comrhission deteczines fhat St Jatnes's Chusch meets.criteria {1) gad:
" Q) Of Chaptéx 278, Article I, Sectisn 278,180 of the Code of tha City of Cambridge,
" which relates fo landmark d'qsigna.tic_»anrOceduxes in the City, but in considetation of the

* existing Preservation Restriction Agreement, the Cambridge Historical Coromission declines
 +at this timeé to forwaid a zecommendation for landmarl’ designation to th¢ Cambridge, City
Couacil. The Carnbridge Historical Commission has enunciated the following Statement of.
;  Standards, with which St James's Chruteh agrées, that sheuld inform future altetations to the
:'prm&:- - o - _.‘. o ) . L . .. .
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. " The St. James's premises include foser irain bistoric componeniizthe chstreh, the parish bouss, the Knight’s * .
. Gardin, and the interior. The publicky visitle ssmiiir architeciural features ars 1hé dipects'of the premises .
hat can bt rgulatidunder Arsicke XTI of Chapyer 2. 78,0f the Codt of the City of Cambridge.>.~ -+ - - .
« - Thé church represants the.mogt Significant resourée on the site, The rimary intent of this dasignation is 1o
provect all publicly-visible exterior drebiteciural features of the church struciurs from inappropriate alteration. - -
- <A constructon on the.sts should priserve open viws of the hrsh siructors, shoield be compatible withishe - -
chureh; and should retain the lafgely ﬁuﬂmdmg character' of the church onits.sity, - DR

* The parish house, while theoldest struciurs on the propirsy, bas bad gumerous alteratipns and is of besser - -
architectyral and bistofical sighificance.than the shurch. A wood frame stricture, two-and-a-balf stories in
* beighs, the parish bouse is residevial iy sialy, Set fack, Pproxizmately 100’ from Massachusetts Avens,
the parish houst bas beer enveloped in later constructipn, including a ons-story masanyy exctension of . the .
. clurch stineture 10 create a rirtor's 243y.38 1912. and the constpction of @ one-story comeress blockwing” .. .
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Appendix B. Correspondence between Cambrid

ge Historical Commission and St. James’s Church
regarding conditions on project approval

CAMBRIDGE HISTORICAL COMMISSION

831 Massachusetts Avenue, 2 F],, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02129
Telephone: 617 349 4683 Fax: 6173493116 TTY: 617 349 6112
E-mail: histcomm@cambridgema.gov URL: http://www.cambridgema. gov/Historic

William B. King, Chair, Bruce A. Irving, Vice Chair, Charles M. Sullivan, Executive Director
M. Wyllis Bibbins, Robert G. Crocker, Chandra Harrington, Frank Shirley, Jo M. Solet, Members
Shary Page Berg, Joseph V. Ferrara, Susannah Barton Tobin, Alternates

January 21, 2010

+

Rev. Holly Antolini, Rector

Saint James’s Episcopal Church
1991 Massachusetts Avenue
Cambridge, Massachusetts 02140

Re: Case 2445, 1991 Massachusetts Avenue

Dear Rev. Antolini,

On January 7, 2010, the Cambridge Historical Commission approved in principle Saint
James’s Episcopal Church’s application for demolition of the parish house, minister’s
study, and classroom wing and construction of a new parish house/residential
condominium on the Church premises as proposed by Oaktree Development. The
Commission’s decision grants a conditional approval for the general location and size of

the proposed new building, but with certain conditions and further review of the following
matters, :

1. Financial rationale. The compelling public initerest in allowing this project to
proceed is the financial support that has been promised to maintain St. James’s
historic church building. Please provide further information outlining a) the current
and proposed changes in ownership of the current Church property, and b) the
financial arrangements between St. James’s Church and Oaktree, including income .
_- and expenses projected over time.

N

Commitment to maintain the historic church bu ilding. Please explain the current

. Projected capital needs of the historic church building and submit a commitment
by St. James’s Church and/or the Episcopal Diocese that the capital needs as well

as the needed expenses of regular maintenance of the historic church building will

continue to be met, detailing in reasonable detail the sources for funding such
commitments., '

Commitment to public access. Please provide a commitment by St. James’s Church
and/or the Episcopal Diocese to assure public access to the proposed garden,
subject to the reasonable needs of the abutters for decorum and maintenance of
order. Please confirm that ownership of the garden will continue to be held by St.

James'’s and/or the Diocese and summarize any special rights proposed for owners
- or tenants of the other condominium units.

4. Landscape plan. Please provide a landscape master plan for the entire property,

including the new garden design, for approval by the Historical Commission at a
future public hearing.
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consists of a lot of about 15,000 square feet owned by Oaktree (the former carwash) and a
lot of just under an acre owned by St. James's. Those two sites will be combined to form a
single lot to support the development. In order to protect St. James's position during
construction St James’s does not wish to convey its fee interest in its property until its new
parish house condominium unit is complete, so it has agreed instead initially to ground lease
its property to Oaktree. Upon the completion of construction and the conveyance of the
parish house condominium unit to St. James's, the Ground Lease will terminate, and St.
James’s will convey the fee interest in its property to the project.

In order to protect St. James's interest post-construction, the foregoing conveyances would
occur through a condominium. Upon the execution of the Ground Lease, but prior to the
commencement of construction, Oaktree will form a Master Condominium comprised of the
fee interest in the Oaktree property and the leasehold interest in the St. James's property.
The Master Condominium wili consist initially of two units. One unit will be a Church Unit,
comprised of the original stone church sanctuary with exclusive rights to other areas like the
garden for the religious uses of St, James's. The other unit will be a Development Unit, in
which the profect will be constructed. The construction lender’s primary collateral will be a
mortgage of the Development Unit. Upon the completion of construction, the Ground Lease
will terminate and the Master Condominium documents will be modified so that the Master
Condominium property will consist entirely of fee interests in the entire site, with three
primary Master Condominium units. One unit will be the Church Unit, the second unit will
be the parish house condominium unit within the new building, to be owned by St. James's,
and the third unit will be the so-called Oaktree Unit within the new building, to be owned by
Oaktree. Oaktree will then, within the Oaktree Unit, create a second Her condominium

comprised of the residential units and the retail or commercial space that will be avallable
for sale or lease. :

If, for some reason, QOaktree can not complete the project, there are provisions in the
contract that allow Oaktree’s lender to complete the contract. If the lender can not
complete the contract, St. James's has the right to step in and hire a contractor to
complete, using the performance bond (to be discussed below) as a construction fund. Any
excess monies spent by St. James must be reimbursed by Oaktree (or the bank) from unit
sales. St. James's would need to pursue this option, because otherwise, it has no Parish

House. These protections are in place to protect St James's position throughout the life of
the profect.

Ultimately, If the project failed completely, and for some reason St. James's did not want to
complete the project, the ground lease could terminate. In this event, St. James's fee
interest in its property is restered. The parties would have some form of joint interest in an
incomplete building, which would probably be a tenancy in common based on the
percentage that the parish hall space bears to the total building size, St. James would also
have the performance bond monies to sort it all out.

1b) The Financia] arrangements between St. J es's and " ree: Again, considerations
here have been given to facilitating St. James's continued operation during construction and
preserving them post-construction. These arrangements have three primary components:
1) an up-front payment designed to augment St. James's operational expenses during the
construction period during which time the church will be without a parish house and
otherwise inconvenienced. Likewise, should the Parish House completion be delayed beyond
the expected completion date Qaktree will pay St. James's a monthly late fee, allowing St
James's to continue to meet those obligations until the Parish House is complete, 2) St.
James’s recelves a new, completed Parish House against which as previously noted, an
agreed-upon finished cost for the Parish House shall be placed in escrow in a performance
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bond at the start of construction to secure its delivery to St James's. These funds are St.
James's safeguard should it need to step in and substantially complete the Parish Hall. 3)
St. James's shall participate in 35% of the project proceeds as the Oaktree units are sold.

These are the monies that St. James's intends to apply to the upkeep of the Sanctuary per
the attached treasurer's report. .

2. Commitment to maintain the historic church bulldina; The comments above go along
way to expressing this commitment as does our treasurer's statement. Our commitment to
the maintaining the historic church building is our rationale for Joining in the project. St.
James's intends to apply project proceeds to items of critical care and to establish income
generating reserves--an endowment--that will allow St. James's to have a systematic
program of regularly scheduled care and upkeep of the sanctuary. We have had a plan in
place to this effect for several years as we've previously discussed with the Commission and
have described in the Treasurer's attachment. In the past we've had capital campaigns that
with the Commission’s help have enabled us to address matters of critical care while
our-general operating funds are used for general upkeep and repairs addressing emergent
Issues. St. James's has not found this pattern sustalnable. Campaign and operating funds
applied to the current Parish House have been good money towards bad space, whereas
there is great reward in preserving and maintaining the sanctuary which with a new Parish
House will have a great energizing effect on the congregation. St. James's asks that the
Commisslon recognize the great deal of effort and care that St James's has focused
expressly in service of its commitment to continuing its operations at 1991 Massachusetts
Avenue and safeguarding its legacy as embodied in the historic church building.

3) Commitment to public access: From Its origins, the garden was intended to be an-active
space within the life of the parish. St, James's commitment to allowing public access:to the
garden alongside parish life and to encouraging public use by enhancing the appeal of the
garden are chief amongst its design interests. Just as St. James's has taken care to ‘protect
and preserve its legacy in its development agreements with Oaktree, so too the building and
garden design are expressions of St. James's commitment to carrying forward its history of
making its garden a publicly accessible space to be readily enjoyed.

It is true that the church has been at pains’in recent decades to offer the space as currently
configured as one that users perceive as being safe, defensible space In its urban

context. From this experience St. James's appreciates the Commission's acknowledgement
In its question that public access to the garden Is subject to the reasonable needs of the
abutters for decorum and maintenance of order. The design of the garden and building seek
to enhance the public comfort and quality of the space by enfolding the garden and giving it
the ears and eyes it so dearly heeds. Note that the permit drawing expressly does not
include fences or gates that would be a barrier to public access and that continued oversight
of the Historic Commission and the Massachusetts Historic Commission are sufficient public
oversight against such limits in the future. The project's special permit further girds the
church's commitment as it calls out the garden as being publicly accessible.

St. James's commitment to the garden and its public quality extends to the garden's place
within the new ownership structure as discussed above. The care and maintenance of the
garden falls solely to St. James's and no share of its care and maintenance is assigned to
the Oaktree units; i.e. the residential and commercial condominiums. This relationship is a
basic term underlying St. James's willingness to participate in the development in order that
it might preserve of the space as a publically accessible church garden. The design of the
building does not include direct access from the residential with the thought that such
access might erode the public quality of the garden over time. St. James's position is that
everyone should enter the garden by the same means and that that is a critical component




of maintaining the public quality of the space. Residential condominlum access through the
garden risks encurmbering the garden with competing rights and obligations which St.
James's views as counter to its obligation to preserve the space and its functioning as a
publicly accessible church garden. St. James's asks that the Commission recognize-that St

James's intentions and commitments are consistent with the Commission’s interests and St.
James’s obligations In respect to these. - '

4) Landscape Plans: These will be submitted by Sasaki/Oaktree.

5) Exterior appearance: Samples/materials will be submitted for discussion in advance of
the Commissions March meeting.

St. James's appreciates the care and attention the Commission extends in regards to the
safe-guarding of the City's history and architectural treasures. It is St. James's great honor
to be responsible for stewarding one of these. We trust that you'll find our Intentions and
commitment consistent with the Commission's own as we celebrate our active and living
congregation--the building's original--and the continuance of its mission at 1991

Massachusetts Avenue as our landmark's principle treasure. Thank you for all your
consideration. :

For St. James's Episcopal Church,

Mg Aqeda

Mark Yoder,
Senior Warden
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CAMBRIDGE HISTORICAL COMMISSION

831 Massachusetts Avenue, 2* FL, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139
Telephone: 617 349 4683 Fax: 6173493116 TTY: 617 349 6112

E-mail: histcomm@cambridgema.gov URL: http://www.cambridgema.gov/Historic

- William B. King, Chair, Bruce A. Irving, Vice Chair, Charles M. Sullivan, Executive Director
M. Wyllis Bibbins, Robert G. Crocker, Chandra Harrington, Frank Shirley, Jo M. Solet, Members
Shary Page Berg, Joseph V. Ferrara, Susannah Barton Tobin, Alternates

April 7, 2010

Rev. Holly Antolini, Rector
Saint James’s Episcopal Church
1991 Massachusetts Avenue
Cambridge, Massachusetts 02140

Re: Case 2445, 1991 Massachusetts Avenue

Dear Rev. Antolini,

On April 1, 2010 the Cambridge Historical Commission continued its hearing on the proposal of
Saint James’s Episcopal Church to demolish the parish house, minister’s study, and classroom
wing and construct a new parish house/residential condominium as proposed by Oaktree Devel-
opment. At this meeting the Commission took testimony and reviewed the proponents’ response
to the five conditions attached to the conditional approval it granted on J: anuary 7, 2010. While
the Commission confirmed its prior approval of the general location and size of the proposed
new building, it voted to ask for further assurances with regard to the conditions.

In the discussion below the paragraphs in italics are the conditions adopted on J anuary 7; they
are followed by the Commission’s findings on April 1.

1. Financial rationale. The compelling public interest in allowing this project to proceed is
the financial support that has been promised to maintain St. James’s historic church
building. Please provide further information outlining a) the current and proposed
changes in ownership of the current Church property, and b) the Jfinancial arrangements

between St. James’s Church and Oakree, including income and expenses projected over
time.

The Commission understands that the property occupied by the historic church sanctuary
building and the new garden will remain in the ownership of the church, where it will be

protected from foreseeable adverse consequences of the conversion of the project site to
condominium ownership.

The Commission understands the financial arrangements between St. James’s Church and
Oaktree and accepts the safeguards agreed to by the Episcopal Diocese of Massachusetts.
However, the Commission finds that the public interest in preserving the historic building
would be better served if the church agrees to place a significant portion of the expected

income from the development project in an endowment specifically dedicated to the capi-
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capital needs and maintenance of the historic church sanctuary building. Please consider this an
amendment to the January 7 conditions.

1. Commitment to maintain the historic church building, Please explain the current projected
capital needs of the historic church sanctuary building and submit a commitment by St.
James's Church and/or the Episcopal Diocese that the capital needs as well as the needed
expenses of regular maintenance of the historic church building will continue to be met,
detailing in reasonable detail the sources Jor funding such commitments.

The Commission accepts the capital needs projections prepared by the church and its
consultants, with the understanding that the actual cost of work on historic buildings often
exceeds the most careful estimates. The Commission also recognizes that further
fundraising and grant assistance may be necessary. Establishment of a dedicated
endowment for the benefit of the historic building will support the church’s commitment.

2. Commitment to public access. Please provide a commitment by St. James's Church and/or
the Episcopal Diocese to assure public access to the proposed garden, subject to the
reasonable needs of the abutters for decorum and maintenance of order. Please confirm
that ownership of the garden will continue to be held by St. James s and/or the Diocese and
summarize any special rights proposed for owners or tenants of the other condominium
units. ’

The Commission understands that ownership of the garden will continue to be held by St.
James’s, and that the owners or tenants of the condominium units will have no special rights
or responsibilities for it. Oral assurances of guaranteed public access notwithstanding, the
Commission reiterates that the public interest will be best served by a written commitment
from the church assuring continued public access.

3. Landscape plan. Please provide a landscape master plan for the entire property, including
the new garden design, for approval by the Historical Commission at a Juture public
hearing. :

The Commission has not yet received an adequate landscape master plan. An acceptable
plan will show not only paved and landscaped areas, but also the varied treatments of those
areas and the provision of lighting, signs, pavement, curbs, benches, and the like, not only
for the new garden but also for the entire publicly visible perimeter of the church. The
Commission accepts that implementation of the plan may occur in stages, but believes that
an accepted plan be in place to guide future actions.

4. Exterior appearance. The Commission understands that the exterior of the new building will
continue to evolve as the proponents address the concerns of the preservation agencies, the
Planning Board, and the public, and that final approval may not be possible in the
immediate future. However, a materials palette can be reviewed at the Commission’s next
meeting on February 4, 2010, |

The Commission expects that the exterior of the building will continue to evolve as details
are finalized and materials are chosen. The materials board presented at the April 1 hearing
was generally acceptable, but the samples were small and not arranged in a way that
allowed careful consideration. After construction drawings are approved at a future hearing
the Commission will require construction of a mock-up panel of the major components for
on-site approval.
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I understand that it will take several weeks to prepare a response to these conditions. The

Commission will be ready to continue its hearing at one of its regular monthly meetings. In the
mean

time, please continue to consult with your neighbors about their concemns, and keep in touch with
me about your progress.

Charles M. Sullivan
Executive Director

cc:  Senior Warden, St. James’s Episcopal Church
Gwen Noyes, Oaktree Development
Paul Holtz, Massachusetts Historical Commission
Les Barber, Cambridge Planning Board
Roger Boothe, Community Development Department



RECEIVED

JUN 01 2010 May 26, 2010
Cambridge Historical Commission
St. James's CAMBRIDGE HISTORICAL COMMISSION 831 Massachusetts Avenue 2t FL
_Episcopal Church Cambridge, MA 02139
Not to be served,
Sefosorms. To Whom It May Concern:

St. James’s would like to thank the Cambridge Historical Commission for its letter dated
April 7, 2010 in which the Commission provides an opportunity for St James’sto ¥
elaborate on its plans and intentions. St. James’s would also like to thank the
Commission for its approval of the general location and size of the proposed new
building and for its statements of understanding and appreciation for the efforts made

by The Episcopal Diocese of Massachusetts and St James’s Episcopal Church to
safeguard the historic sanctuary.

Inreply to the Commission’s five points for further discussion, the paragraphs in italics
are the conditions adopted by the Historic Commission on April 7, 2010; each is
followed by St. James's response.

1) The Commission understands the financial arrangements between St. James’s
[Episcopal]) Church and Oaktree [Development] and accepts the safeguards agreed to by the
Episcopal Diocese of Massachusetts. However, the Commission finds that the public interest
in preserving the historic building would be better served if the church agrees to place a
significant portion of the expected income from the development project in an endowment
specifically dedicate to the capital needs and maintenance of the historic church sanctuary
building. Please consider this amendment to the January 7 conditions.

The Vestry of the parish of St. James'’s Episcopal Church unanimously voted and
approved the following on May 18, 2010: :

1) To create a Property Endowment from a portion of the proceeds of the payout from
condominium sales resulting from redevelopment. -

2) That the payout from condominium sales be dedicated as follows:
- One-third to the creation of a Property Endowment
= One-third to immediate Property Needs of the Sanctuary
- Up to one-third to be available for Operating Expenses with the balance to be
applied to the Property Endowment and immediate Property needs.

The Vestry unanimously decided to dedicate these funds for three reasons:

a) The long-desired but previously unfulfilled hope of the parish to have the
resources properly to maintain the sanctuary.

41
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b) Direction from our legal authority - the Episcopal Diocese of Massachusetts —
that we must dedicate resources from the sale of condominiums to the upkeep of
the sanctuary.

¢) Interest on behalf of the Historic Comumission that resources from this
redevelopment will go to protect the historic sanctuary.

We believe that the actions taken by

the Vestry properly speak to the concerns raised by
Commissioner,

2) The Commission accepts the capital needs projections prepared by the church and its
consultants, with the understanding that the actual costs of work on historic buildings often
exceeds the most careful estimates. The Commission also recognizes that further fundraising
and grant assistance may be necessary. Establishment of a dedicated endowment for the
benefit of the historic building will support the church’s commitment.

The expectations and conditions established by the Episcopal Diocese of Massachusetts

and the Vestry’s action on May 18, 2010 noted above fully speak to the Commission’s
concerns.

3) The Commission understands that the ownership of the garden will continue to be held by
St. James’s, and that the owners or tenants of the condominium units will have no special
rights or responsibilities for it. Oral assurances of guaranteed public access notwithstanding,
the Commission reiterates that the public interest will be best served by a written
commitment from the church assuring continued public access.

In its written submissions to the Commission, which have become part of the public

record, St. James’s has made assurances that, continuing St. James’s long-term

- «commitment, the Knight’s Garden will remain open to the public. Further, St. James's
has committed itself in the design documentation approved by the Cambridge Planning

Board (and to-date in concept by the Historic Commission) to a garden design that

includes no physical barrier or means by which public access might be barred from the

Knight's Garden. St. James’s has gone on to write that it understands that the addition

of such a device at any time in the future would necessarily be subject to Historic
Commission review and approval.

Notwithstanding the growing public record and the Commission’s own oversight, the-

Vestry of the parish of St. James's Episcopal Church umanimously voted and approved
the following on May 18, 2010:

“St James’s affirms its invitation to the community to use the Knight's Garden for
reverential or other quiet enjoyment. St. James’s shall clearly post the hours of
public access, the character of appropriate use, and a fulsome welcome, that the
Knight's Garden might be known as a church garden for use by all, St. James’s




shall close the garden at least one day per year to preserve its discretion in these
and all other matters.”

4) The Commission has not yet received an adequate landscape master plan. An acceptable
Plan will show not only paved and landscape areas, but also the varied treatments of those
areas and the provision of lighting, signs, pavement, curbs, benches, and the like, not only
Jfor the new garden but also Jor the entire publicly visible perimeter of the church. The
Commission accepts that implementation of the plan may occur in stages, but believes that
an accepted plan should be in place to guide future actions.

The landscape master plan will be contained in the design drawing package submitted
for the Commission'’s review.

5) Exterior Appearance

Details pertaining to the exterior appearance will be contained in the design drawing
package and materials sample boards submitted for the Commission’s review.

Sincerely,

MMihecic

Mark Yoder
Senior Warden

QY Ay
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Sullivan, Charles M. -

From: William and Sheila King [basking@comcast.net)
Sent Tuesday, August 24, 2010 11:22 AM .

To: Microsoft Outiook Express 6.00.2900.5931
Subject: i Re: St James's Garden Access

All ~

This revised statement

responds to and answers my concerns with the original, and also pfovid&c welcome
additional clarity.

Bill King

Cc: mark yoder ; Rector
Sent: Monday, August 23, 2010 10:05 AM
-Subject: St James's Garden Access

Bill and Charlie~

Please find St. James’s revised statement affirming our commitment to maintain public access to the Knight's Garden for
your consideration below, .

Bill, Charlie and.I spoke last week about the Church's
might unintentionally unbalance the statement as a
Commission’s recommendations throughout.

concem that re-wording the last sentence alone
whole, so_we've revised the statement, incorporating.the

The revised statement:

"St. James’s affirms its invitation to the community to use the Knight's Garden for reverential or other quiet
enjoyment. Following closure necessary for-construction of the parish house and reconstruction of the garden,
the garden shall be open during daylight hours except for reasonable t

emporary closures necessary for church
functions, maintenance, or for one day per year appropriate to prevent a public easement. St. James’s shall
clearly post that the garden is open during daylight kours, the character of appropriate use, and a welcome that
the Knight’s Garden might be known as a church garden for use by all.” :

We will provide confirmation of the Vestry's affirm:
revision addresses the Commission’s concerms.

Thank you,
Alan Aukeman

ation of this statement after we have word from you that the
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St. James's Episcopal Church
2010-2035 Capital Summary

A Capital Improvement Plan for St. James’s 2010-2035 and beyond

St. James's Episcopal Church is a parish in transition. Having made the
commitment to enter a creative and innovative partnership with Oakiree Design
Development, St. James's finally has the opportunity to restore and maintain its
historically significant sanctuary in the context of a phased maintenance plan for
its entire premises, including its Garden and Parish House. The St. James's-
Oakiree partnership enables the congregation o redesign our Garden for easier
access and usability, demolish an aged and inefficient Parish House, and
replace it with a new, modern, energy-efficient, LEED-certified and ADA-
accessible Parish House to better support our programs and tfestify more pubilicly,
clearly and unambiguously to our lively communify presence in worship,
iellowship and service. Firsi of all, our energies will no longer be directed toward
a losing mainienance batile with our old Parish House. In addition, our new
premises assure increased growth as a congregation, which in turn increases our

resources. And finally, we will be able to dedicate our restoration ef

forts solely to
our historic property,

Capital planning has taken many forms at St. James's. The last capital campaign
produced three major results. First, it renewed the masonry of Sanctuary's
western wall and bell fower to stand the test of another 100 years. Second, it
produced an award-winning, energy-efficient natural-gas heating system that
significantly lowered operating cosis for the parish. And third., it produced the first
comprehensive capital improvement plan for the parish going forward. Relying
upon the work of A.J. Hayes and Davies & Bibbins Architects for initial figures, the
parish Finance and Property Committees have, annually updated the list of future
projects. The most recent list is attached. It provides a 25-year horizon for
projects, 2010-2035. Some listings involve annual maintenance - pew
maintenance, fire alarm tests, exterminators, etc. Other listings, such as
replocement of the slate roof's copper underlayment, are major one-time
expenses for which grants and capital funds from the congregation will be
sought. Finally, as proceeds from condominium sales begin to build our
endowment, we will be in a position to begin the phased maintenance of
elements such as regular stained glass cleaning and repair, and interior
restoration in the Sanctuary. Of course, the plan also includes provision for
ongoing assessment of maintenance and restoration needs in the Sanctuary so
that we can - once the endowment is more defined - continue to determine
how best to prioritize and refine the Capital Improvement Plan in the future.

U 2010-2035 St. Jomes's Capital Pian

March 15, 2010
Page 2




The proposed redevelopment project presents St. James's with three major
phases of opportunity for maintaining our historic Sanctuary:

1) Eliminating the current parish house frees the congregation : literally and

financially: some capital improvement projects in the historic sanctuary must
happen concomitantly with the new construction.

The current Parish House - the inefficient, sprawling building behind the 1888
Sanctuary - hos for too long been extremely difficult for the parish o maintain,
with its mass of levels, crevices, poorly ventilated basement spaces, awkward
room configurations and various finishes in varying degrees of dilapidation,
especially when the responsibility of the Sanctuary is added to the mix. By
eliminating the old Parish House, its over $450,000-worth of projects - from
painting to roof replacement to window replacement to energy efficiency
improvements to ADA-accessibility to sanitation to fire protection - no longer
demand congregational resources and volunteer time to repair; replace or
simply ity to keep afloat. .With the loss of the Parish House, the congregation also
lose's a seriously outmoded fire alarm system, and must install a new fire alarm
system for the Sanctuary at the same time as it installs the new one for the new
Parish House. Some preliminary Sanctuary roof repairs and a serious assessment
of the condition of the roof overall also are needed immediately. Together with
a sound system upgrade, new signage, and some modification of the natural-

- 9as HVAC as it is moved for the construction period into the Sanctuary -
Undercroft, and some security upgrades, these capltal improvements represent
the first phase of our long-range capital plan, needed between 2010 and 2012,

2) Fuiure capital campaigns after the fund drive fo the outfit the new Parish House
can be dedicated primarily to the restoration and upkeep of the Sanciuary.

solely in the Sanctuary. With a fresh start in a new Parish House, funds will no
longer diverted towards the futile aftempf to maintain the old parish house, so
parishioners can devote their resources to assist the proposed new property -
endowment fund (see No. 3, following) in a long-term, phased restoration-and-
preservation plan for our historic architectural gem of a worship space. We
anficipate the need for g Capital Campaign within the first five years after the
completion of our new Parish House, to address the problems with the Sanctuary
siate roof’s copper underlayment, the knob-and-tube wiring remaining in the
Sanctuary, and some masonry re-pointing. Depending on resources, we may
also include the first stained-glass window cleaning-and-repair as the first step in
along-range, every-year or every-other-year cleaning-and-maintenance
protocol for our windows. The goal of this second phase of restoration is to

stabilize the building's exterior to prevent further dilapidation, and is anticipated
fo take place in 2015-2014.

'\lv 2010-2035 St. James's Capital Plan Paue s March 18, 2010
dage
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3) The parish proceeds from the condominium sales can be dedicaied to the
creation of a long-term properlty endowment. :

St. James's, like most parishes, refies upon its parishioners for almost all its financial
support (with a sixth of its annual fund coming from building rental and a smaller

portion of its annual fund generated by its strictly restricted Connie Milton Fund,
and the remainder from pledges).

When faced with urgent capital repailrs in the past, we have sought and
received the assistance of occasional generous and much-needed grants, such
as those provided by the Massachusetts Historical Commission for our roof in the
1980's and by the Cambridge Historical Commission in 2007 for work on the
masonry of our Sanctuary’s westem wall-and bell tower. We anticipate o )
continuing need for grant assistance in the foreseeable future, until our proposed
property endowment can grow sufficiently to contribute to our self-sufficiency.

While it will probably be necessary o invest o yet-undetermined portion of our
35% pay-out of the profit from condominium sales directly into the external
infrastructure of our historic Sanciuary in Phase Two - 2015-2016 — of our long-
range Capital Improvement Plan to prevent damage from further delay, it is our
godl to invest the majority of the profit proceeds in a first-fime-ever dedicated
property endowment, fo be drown upon both for phased repairs to the
Sanctuary and perpetual care of all St. James's premises. 1t is our intention to
structure this endowment to be an enduring resource beyond the
congregation's annual and capital giving. Such a resource will permit us o meet
strategically the increasing restoration demands of our aging Sanctuary, while

allowing the parish to dedicate its annual giving to congregational growth and
the sirengthening of its mission in the community.

The third phase of our proposed long-range capital plan initiates interior
renovations in 2020 - 2021, including painting and plastering, and also is the first
phase that assumes the beginnings of a 4% or 5% retum — anticipated as
somewhere between $35,000 to $75,000 per gnnum - on our proposed property
endowment as part of its resources. It will be some time before the property
endowment grows sufficiently to provide substantially for our restoration-and-

mainienance goals. We must continve to rely on capital fund drives for major
initiafives in the meantime.

Ed 2010-2035 St. James's Capital Plan

March 15, 2010
Page 4
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Appendix D. Certificate of Appropriateness in Case 2445, November 4, 2010.

CAMBRIDGE HISTORICAL COMMISSION

831 Massachusetts Avenue, 2™ F1., Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139

Telephone: 617 349 4683 Fax: 6173493116 TTY: 617 349 6112

E-mail: histcomm@cambridgema.gov URL: http://www.cambridgema.gov/Historic

William B. King, Chair, Bruce A. Irving, Vice Chair, Charles M. Sullivan, Executive Director
M. Wyllis Bibbins, Robert G Crocker, Chandra Harrington, Frank Shirley, Jo M. Solet, Members
Shary Page Berg, Joseph V. Ferrara, Susannah Barton Tobin, Alternates

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS

Propexty: Saint James’s Episcopal Church,
1991 Massachusetts Avenue

Applicant: Saint James’s Episcopal Church
1991 Massachusetts Avenue
Cambridge, MA 02138

Attention: Rev. Holly Antolini, Priest
Mark Yoder, Senior Warden

Gwen Noyes

Oaktree Development
129 Mt. Auburn Street
Cambridge, MA 02138

The Cambridge Historical Commission hereby certifies, pursuant to the
Massachusetts Historic Districts Act (MGL Ch. 40C) and the Cambridge
Historical Buildings and Landmarks Ordinance (Cambridge City Code,
Ch. 2.78), that the work described below is not incongruous to the

historic aspects or architectural character of the building or
district:

1. Demolish the parish house, minister’s study, and
classroom wing.

2. Construct a new parish house/residential condominium.

3. Execute the landscape master plan in two Phases with
the central garden and perimeter of the new parish
house/residential condominium to be completed in the
first phase and the perimeter landscaping around the
street sides of the historic church sanctuary building
to be completed in a later phase.

Approval was granted for work as deseribed on the
Construction Documents by Sasaki Associates, Inc. titled,
“St. James Place at Porter Square,” dated October 25, 2010,
with the condition that the construction details and final
materials palette be approved by the staff, and that the
color of the trim be submitted for review by the
Commission.

p.1of2
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Case 2445: Saint James’s Episcopal Church, 1991 Massachusetts Avenue
Certificate of Appropriateness, page 2

The Commission’s approval is granted on the basis of its
previous conditions, which are summarized in the Final
Landmark Designation Study Report dated November 4, 2010.

All improvements shall be carried out as shown on the plans and
specifications submitted by the applicant, except as modified above.

Approved plans and specifications are incorporated by reference into
this certificate.

This certificate is granted upon the condition that the work
authorized herein is commenced within six months after the date of
issue. If the work authorized by this certificate is not commenced
within six months after the date of issue, or if such work is
suspended in significant part for a pexiod of one year after the time
the work is commenced, then this certificate shall expire and be of no
further effect; provided that, for cause, one or more extensions of

time, for periods not exceeding six months each, may be allowed in
writing by the Chair. ,

Case Number: 2445 Date of Certificate: November 4, 2010
{pursuant to vote October 28, 2010)

Attest: A true and correct copy of decision filed with the
offices of the City Clerk and the Cambridge Historical Commission

on _Nev. 2,20 10 .
l - .
By LUJ*L——\ g ' k\‘w\ . Chair.
A N .
**********************************************************************
Twenty days have elapsed since the filing of this decision.
No appeal has been filed - Appeal has been filed .
Date ., City Clerk

e



JACQUELINE KELLEY

21 BLAKE STREET
CAMBRIDGE, MA

Elaine M. Callahan

eme709@gmail.com
January 26, 2011

TO: ORDINANCE COMMITTEE: Chairman Sam Seidel
795 Massachusetts Avenue
Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139

By e-mail: c/o M.Drury@cambridgema.gov

(as if individually delivered by hand) hand delivery to be done of copy of the
actual John Nolen’s Plans for ‘Knight’s Garden’ (stated by Commission and
Church and Developer as not existing; BUT existing in John Nolen’s papers in
Cornell Rare Book Collection -- (a copy obtained at the price of $19.00)

RE: 5:00 Hearing' on:

Saint James Episcopal Church the buildings and property — as a Historical
Landmark (with an emphasis on INDEPENDENT LANDMARK status for John Nolen's
‘Knight’s’ Garden [a rare work of the nationally and WORLD renown city
planner, and therefore, Cambridge notable John Nolen)); and

5:30 Hearing on:

Opposition to removal of two (2) Healthy Honey Locusts to accommodate
the L-shaped Commercial/Residential 4 story Structure (in an area designed
and PLANNED to never have any form of structures or commercial or

residential presence but planned for the community of Cambridge and
all passer-by’s to be an open and green element in the streetscape of City
and to actually set off the visual beauty of the exterior of St. James Church)

Dear Chairman Seidel and esteemed Members of The Ordinance Commiittee:

First: Did you know that at the very last hearing the ‘church’ asked if they would need
independent permission to have a ‘columbarium’.

If you don’t know what a columbarium is: neither did the members of the Cambridge
Historical Commission, not anyone else in the Room. We were all soon enlightened:



It’s a graveyard, a cemetery of sorts — a structure for the housing of dead bodies.

Keep that in mind: what does the future hold for the one ‘designated’ square of ¢ green’
left of what is a wonderful open space of green ... John Nolen’s Knight’s Garden

*kkkEkEkEkk

I am Jacqueline Kelley and I am a resident and owner of 21 Blake Street, Cambridge, a
home which has been in my family since 1947

Ms Elaine M. Callahan joins me in submitting the following for your consideration on
the 5:00 o’clock and 5:30 PM matter of the Landmark designation of Saint James
Episcopal Church but urge you to designate the Church as one Landmark and, on its own
and in its own right, to separately designate the free and open green -garden area which I
am referring to as Joha Nolen’s Knight's Garden as an INDEPENDENT LANDMARK (again: on
its own and in it stood before any Commission approval for destruction). And for the
preservation of the 2 honey-locust trees.

(The Assessor’s Office lists the Church as an independent lot; and lists the Nolen
Knight’s Garden as an independent lot — and if you have the power to save this rare
masterwork: we urge you to not be mislead by people who couldn’t manage a budget
[and by developers who only caring for green is not in open space but that which fills
their pockets]). The irony is that the City of Cambridge has programs committed to green
open space and to PLANT - not destroy the green areas within its boundaries.

The St James Church residential Commercial project destroys not on a planned open
space but a rare ‘planned’ open space by the man, John Nolen, who is designated as the
Founder of City Planning — not just in Cambridge but is recognized throughout the United
States and is world renown.

How absolutely ironic and tragic that while museums (e.g. The Levine Museum of the
New South) dedicate time to honor John Nolen (See materials annexed and submitted to,
and ignored — NO BURRIED by the Cambridge Historical Commission) this city
destroys his work. Other Historical Commissions honor the man and other cities name
streets after him and even today name buildings after him and courses are given on him in
Colleges and his books passed out to other City Counsels as a guide on how to make a
city place that is welcoming but productive — his won home town ... we denigrate his
memory by not just destroying his work but with a project that is antithetical to what he
and the Nolen Garden stand for.

The Commission’s approved mass is for a project that calls for putting ‘concrete mass’
where there was suppose to be an open green respite for the inhabitants of the city and all
passerby’s to enjoy. (And to do so why? Again: to come to the ‘aid’ of people who
showed little ability to manage their own budgets — to give them money to so-called help
them in doing work on the interior of part the church: work which, if I recall about the
petitions, has been put off to a distant future and has in fact a low ranked priority and is



dependent on condo-sale. {This is an extraordinarily speculative venture as today’s
market is dominated by falling real estate prices and massive foreclosures.)

Until this project and the destruction of our urban green area (that showcased the Church
fagade from all views): John Nolen’s world wide acclaim was not known to me. I was
astounded to find out ‘who’ this man really was, what his credentials were and how
important a figure in city planning, architectural landscaping and in the making of
livable city life he was. '

With all due respect I am also submitting to you the presentations made by myself and
Ms. Callahan for herself and for me, in Opposition to the St. James Episcopal Church L-
shaped encapsulating project which destroys the Nolen Knight’s Garden and to urge you
to especially review the submissions on the life and importance of John Nolen. And to
act on this matter to save the Nolen-work that we can call ‘our own.’

I would also bring to your attention that the Commission has had the St. James Church
Landmark Report since on or about 1990 and therein does state how important the Nolan
Knights Garden is. (Without reference to how HU GE John Nolen himself really is. Ironic
that they put importance on parties that are distant relations to a Nationally known poet
BUT fail to reveal how important the man John Nolen was who designed with the
original Church elders who built that Church — that area to be an open and green area for
the people ...and as a landmark area that sets off the landmark Church’s fagade.)

I would also bring to your attention that there clearly are major constitutional infirmities
in the Commission’s procedures. Ms. Callahan herself can attest and does so to this
esteemed Committee that when she gave an position in opposition, her remarks were
deliberately misstated (which caused a need for her to correct. HOWEVER: in this day of
technology where proceedings are easily tape recorded: these proceedings are NOT. As
such, opposition statements are not put down as exactly presented to the Commission.
Notices of filings are not tendered to parties and ‘final approval® are represented to the
City Clerk as having been given but hearings on the matter continue on beyond that date. -

There are constitutional infirmities as to ‘how’ an approval for the matter was given
without due consideration to the criteria of the City’s social history and a need for the
absolute preservation of the work of a man of with such world class renown and an
element of open space, that should not be lost, and a space that represents the mind and
work of Man of National and International repute.

His work should not be destroyed: it SHOULD be landmarked, on its own and in it’s own
right. '

The place you destroy: it was called Knight’s GARDEN; and the destruction of these
trees is antithetical not only to the design of trees and greenery in this space but to the
City’s own policy to protect and to the planting of new trees.



Like the Knight’s Garden’s open space — these trees should not be destroyed — but
preserved right where they are.

And should we mourn these nature’s masterpieces too: as the first residence of a clearly
future planned ‘columbarium’ (How ironic: for a plan underfoot for a graveyard ... when
the approved plans were the death knell for that rare Nolen work ... ).

SUMMARY

For the reasons stated above: it is offered in support Landmark Designation of the world
renown JOHN NOLEN, that being the KNIGHT’S GARDEN, INDEPENDENT
AND SEPARATE FROM THE SAINT JAMES EPISCOPAL CHURCH - AS IT
STANDS TODAY — WITH IT’S OPEN SPACE (that is a landmark in and of itself,
setting of the landmark fagade of Saint James Episcopal Church). - '

In addition: it is also supported ...as it is now and untouched or unmarred by the visual
despoliation of the open view of the fagade the landmarking of the Saint James Episcopal
Church fagade. Saint James Episcopal Church.

And Oppose the destruction of the 2 healthy Honey Locust Trees (or any other vegetation
or diminution of the present green ‘garden’ area). '

We thank you ahead of time for your time and attention to our submission.

Respectfully submitted, Respectfully submitted
Jacqueline Kelley

Jacqueline Kelley Elaine M. Callahan
(owner-resident 21 Blake Street, Cambridge MA) emc709@gmail.com
ATTACHMENTS:

. 1. Biography sheet (of 3 bios) of Pre-eminent and Renown City Planner John Nolen
2. Comell University Rare Manuscript Department (Listing papers of City Planner
John Nolen in their collection of rare books and papers)
3. Google: a first page listing only of over 8000 entries for City Planner John Nolen



ADDENDUM ATTACHMENTS
I, NOLAN BIOS

John Nolen (1869-1937)

Nolen's considerable achievements ‘continue well past the period covered in the excerpt
below (to 1913). Not the least of these include the design of the City of Venice, Florida
(1925) and the publication of a seminal work (1927), "New Towns for Old: Achievements

in Civic Improvement in Some American Small Towns and Neighborhoods."”

John Nolen

City Planner, Landscape Architect

Text, below, selected and transcribed from a book by Samuel Atkins Eliot, “A History of
Cambridge Massachusetts (1630-1913)" [1]

John Nolen, landscape architect, city planner, civic lecturer, writer, observant traveler in
old worlds and new, is, in the thoughts of many, now occupying the desirable position in
public estimation which those who knew best the lamented Charles Eliot, son of Ex-
President Eliof, expected him one day to have.

Mr. Nolen's career has been unusual. He was born in 1869, was graduated in 1893 from
the University of Pennsylvania, studied at Oxford, Munich and Harvard, which gave him its
A.M. in 1905,

Practice and theory have found in his life the blending which invariably spells out success.
Before college he had a fruitful business career; after college — in fact, until 1903 — he
combined lecturing and administrative work for the University Extension Society in
Philadelphia. He thus became a fluent and effective speaker, and at the same time learned
to organize men, direct activities, and deal with multitudinous details. He acquired the art
of influencing minds in the mass and alsd one by one. He developed the habit, whether in
a crowd or in the quiet of an office conversation, of stating unwholesome truth without
dilution and also without hurt to the most sensitive. When as city planner or re-planner he
is to speak about the city's needs before the citizens en masse, he makes his diagnosis as
carefully as any doctor called to a sickbed, and then reports exactly what he finds. Mr.
Nolen has written many articles, published many reports, given many addresses, and

_ advised in the formation of many organizations for the betterment and beautifying of our
cities. His attitude toward practically every civic problem with which he has had to deal, is



clearly indicated in his latest book, "Replanning Small Cities," perhaps thé most important’
single contribution to city improvement literature ever made by an American: In reading it
one sees that Mr. Nolen always has in mind in his writing and work the three essentials:
(1) The influence of comprehensive city planning on the civic spirit; (2) the relationship of
the specific plan to better housing, proper schooling, well-planned playgrounds, spacious
parks, grade crossings, waterfronts, a true wage-system, and better living; (3) and the
urgent necessity that American cities, like Dusseldorf and other German cities, should be .
able to borrow large sums to make their plans effective. ’
As one reads the list of Mr. Nolen's activities, creations and publications, most of which
belong within the last decade, one is amazed at both the quality and quantity of his good
work. Fellow of the American Society of Landscape Architects, first vice-president of the
American Civic Association, member of the Executive Board of the National Conference on
City Planning and of the Boston Metropolitan Plan Commission, and of such clubs as the
Boston City Club, the New York Harvard Club, and the Appalachian Mountain Club, Mr.
Nolen has been counsellor to more than a score of representative American cities, many
more educational and philanthropic institutions and private estates, and official landscape
architect to such municipalities as Madison, Wisconsin, Montclair, N.J., Reading, Pa.,
Roanoke, Va., San Diego, Cal., New London, Conn., Savannah, Ga., and Schenectady, N.Y.
In Massachusetts alone ten cities are the better and the fairer for his touch. It is evermore
the man behind the guns that wins the victory. Back of all of Mr. Nolen's intelligent, artistic
and amazingly abundant work is a simple, quiet, tactful, friendly but extremely forceful
personality, gathering inspiration all along the way of life, from chance acquaintances,
from friends whose name is legion, and most of all from a happy home made possible by
his marriage in 1896 to Miss Barbara Schatte of
http://www.Iivingplaces.com/PA/Philadelphia_County/Philadelphia_City.html">Philadelphia.
Mr. Nolen Iives.in Cambridge, but his main professional fields have been South and West.
His strong preference for public work has been expressed oftcenest [sic] perhaps in the
case of the small city, sometimes regardless of compensation. He has kept the standard of
his comparatively new profession ever far ahead of mediocrity and mercenary interests,
and his motto ever is "The beautiful is as useful as the useful.”

1. Transcribed from: Samuel Atkins Eliot, A.M., D.D., A History of Cambridge Massachusetts (1630-1913) Together
With Blographies of Cambridge People, p. 230-231, The Cambridge Tribune, Cambridge MA, 1913
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Monday, May 08, 2006

John Nolen, City & Park Planner
In this biographical history of John Nolen, we learn he was an carly, influential
member and thought leader of the city planning and landscape architecture
professions in the United States, and had a strong California connection, including
Sacramento. ‘

In September of 1911 he worked for the Committee on Parks of the Chamber of
Commerce in Sacramento to do a plan for Del Paso Park; in December of 1913 he
worked for the Board of Park Directors in Sacramento to create a Park System; in
June of 1914 he worked for the City Commission in Sacramento on City Plans (this
plan drawing still exists and includes a drawing of the Parkway)

Here is an excerpt from the biographical history:
John Nolen (1869-1937)

When in 1907 Philadelphia native and city planner John Nolen was hired by merchant
George W. Marston on the recommendation of landscape architect Samuel Parsons, Jr. to
prepare a comprehensive development plan for San Diego, he was comparatively
unknown in city planning or landscape architecture circles. He had opened his office in
Cambridge, Massachusetts in 1903. two years before he received his A.M. from the
Harvard School of Landscape Architecture in 1905 at the age of thirty-six, the same year
he became a member of the American Society of Landscape Architects. Also, in 1907, he
had obtained a commission to survey potential park sites for the state of Wisconsin: in
1915 and 1923 respectively he was given commissions to design towns in Kingsport,
Tennessee and Mariemont, Ohio; and in 1917 he was appointed to survey Charlotte,
North Carolina. By 1919, Nolen had written two books, edited two others, and published
scores of articles and plans. His standing had so increased that in 1927 he was elected
president of the National Conference on City Planning.



As most of these achievements were in the future, his plan for the City of San Diego,
completed in 1908, was a "make or break" effort. In commenting on the problems of a
growing metropolis, he was far removed from making plans for the small "garden cities"
of Kingsport and Mariemont. He had entered the domain of such distinguished city
planners as Daniel Bumham, Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr. and Clarence Stein. He
recommended that San Diego build a civic center plaza on D Street (Broadway since
1912) between Front and First Sreets and develop its bayfront with a "paseo” joining the
bay to City Park (Balboa Park since 1910). Marston, Women’s Clubs, and Chamber of
Commerce officials supported these proposals, but they never got beyond the argument
stage. Passage in 1911 of a bond issue to build two long piers at the foot of Broadway did
away with Nolen’s terminus for D Street; public resources were diverted to the 1915-
1916 Panama-California Exposition in Balboa Park; and George W. Marston, Nolen’s
champion, was defeated in mayoralty contests in 1913 and 1917, in which Marston’s
opponents, Charles F. O’Neall and Louis J, Wilde, ridiculed Nolen’s vision of a palatial
Mediterranean-like city instead of a city of factories and docks.

As a by-product of the Panama-California Exposition, the U.S. Navy and U. S. Marine
Corps settled in San Diego. While factory and commercial promoters thought of the
military as its natural ally, this proved to be a delusion. As San Diego was not-equipped
to deal with the intra-structural problems of expanding military installations, a need for
centralized city planning became imperative. Accordingly, in 1924 the City Council
invited John Nolen back to San Diego to update his 1908 plan. To further Nolen’s plans,
the Council in 1925 appointed Kenneth Gardner, from Nolen’s Cambridge office, as
"planning engineer."

Nolen’s second San Diego city plan in 1926 broadened the goals of the 1908 plan. The
emphasis was still on the waterfront, where civic buildings would be located and a
"recreation island" would be created, an airport would be placed on tidelands, and a
"paseo” would link to Balboa Park. Seeing more than San Diego’s downtown, Nolen
proposed traffic connections to outlying regions. This new focus may have reflected
changing standards in City Planning, which at the time were dividing into specialized and
overlapping departments in colleges and cities throughout the country. On the other hand,
the necessity of providing industrial and commercial traffic arteries to the rest of the
nation and to Mexico was too pressing to ignore.
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JOHN NOLEN
- (BIOGRAPHY CIRCA 191 5)
From the Municipal League Series (Its book®©
“City Planning A Series of Papers Presenting the Essential Elements of a City
Plan”edited by John Nolen (Fellow American Society of Landscape Architects)1915

Stated to be a “Handbook of City Planning” it consists series of Articles by 16 esteemed
Architects, Architectural landscapers, City Planners ... contemporary compilation,

Fredrick Law Olmstead from the Preface (Nolen’s acknowledgements): “to Mr.
Frederick Law Olmsted, who in addition to writing the introduction to the volume, has
read and criticised all of the manuscript and given many valuable suggestions from his
full knowledge of the subject and wide practical experience as a landscape architect.”

‘This biois from the book on John Nolen as a ‘contributor'-author and the editor:)

JOHN NOLEN

John Nolen, born Philadelphia, 1869; graduated University of Pennsylvania,
1893; post-graduate work, 'University of Munich, 1900; A. M. Harvard, 1905; Sc.
D., Hobart, 1913; engaged in professional practice at Cambridge, Mass., since

1903. Among his more important works are general plans for Agricultural School,
Northampton, Mass.; Bates College, Lewiston, Maine; Davidson College,
Davidson, N. C.; plans for institutions under State Board of Control of Wisconsin;
private place of A. Howard Hinkle, Bar Harbor, Maine: Myers Park land
subdivision, Charlette, N. C.; Neponset Garden Village, Walpole, Mass.; general
plan for Del Paso Park, Sacramento, California; park systems for Madison,
Wisconsin: Chattanooga, Tennessee; La Crosse, Wisconsin; New London,
Conn.; Little Rock, Arkansas; comprehensive city plans and reports for
improvement of Roanoke, Virginia; San Diego, California; Montclair and Glen
Ridge, New Jersey; Reading, Scranton, Lock Haven, and Erie, Pennsylvania;
Madison and Milwaukee, Wisconsin; Wayland, Cohasset, and Walpole,
Massachusetts; Schenectady, N. Y.: Bridgeport, Conn.; Sacrqmento, California.
Adjudicator competitive designs for city plan of Dublin, Ireland. Fellow, American
Society of Landscape Architects; Boston Society of Landscape Architects;
Executive Board, National Conference on City Planning; First Vice-President,
American Civic Association. Editor: Repton's Art of Landscape Gardening, 1907:
Handbook of City Planning, 1916. Author: Madison, a Model City, 1910;
Replanning Small Cities, 1912; Greater Erie, 1913. Contributor to magazines and

current periodicals.



ADDENDUM ATTACHMENT-II
CORNELL RARE BOOK

Guide to the John Nolen Papers,
1890-1938, 1954-1960.

Collection Number: 2903

Division of Rare and Manuscript Collecugns
Cornell University Library

Contact Information: Compiled Date EAD encoding:
Division of Rare and Manuscrpt by: completed: Evan Fay Eade, July
Collections July 2007 2007
2B Cad A. Kroch Library
Comell University
Ithaca, NY 14853
(607) 255-3530
Fax: (607) 255-9524 .
rareref@cornell.edu
http://rmc.library.cocnell.edu

© 2007 Division of Rare and Manuscript Collections, Cornell University Library

DESCRIPTIVE SUMMARY
Title:

John Nolen papcrs, 1890-1938, 1954-1960
Collection Number:

2903

Creator:
- John, Nolen 1869-1937.

Quantity:
135.6 cubic ft.

Forms of Material:
Correspondence, Diaries, Manuscripts, Photographs, Pnnted Matenals, Research
Materials

Repository:
Division of Rare and Manuscript Collections, Cornell University Library

Abstract:
Collection consists of personal and professional correspondence, letterbooks,
addresses, biographical data, diaries, scrapbooks, school notes and textbooks, syllabi,
lectures and outlines, typescript papers and articles, printed material, policy
directives, card files, sample contracts, projects files and reports, slides, photographs,
negatives, plans, blueprints, drawings, charts, and maps relating to Nolen's work in
city planning, preservation, survey projects, zoning, and extension programs.
Includes records pertaining to Nolen's studies at the University of Pennsylvania and
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Harvard; his work at the American Society for the Extension of University Teaching;
consulting jobs; projects with the United States Housing Corporation, National
Resources Committee, National Park Service, National Resources Planning Board,
Federal Emergency Relief Administration of Public Works, Resettlement
Administration, Department of the Interior, Division of Subsistence Homesteads,
and various city and state agencies; and housing, parks, streets, railways, and water
systems in Bridgeport, Conn., Chatlotte, N.C., Clearwater, Clewiston, Sarasota, and
Veaice, Fla., Columbus, Ga., Johnson City and Kingsport, Tenn., La Crosse and
Madison, Wis., Lancaster and Reading, Pa., Little Rock, Ark., Mariemont, Ohio,
Niagara Falls, N.Y., Riverton, N.J., Roanoke, Va., Sacramento and San Diego, Calif.,
Boston, Mass., Spartanburg, S.C., Dubuque, Iowa; and other places.

Language:
Collection material in English

BIOGRAPHICAL NOTE

City planner, landscape architect.

John Nolen attended the University of Pennsylvania, earning a Ph.B. in 1893, and for
the next ten years worked as secretary of the American Society for the Extension of
University Teaching. In 1903 he enrolled in the newly established Harvard School of
Landscape Architecture, receiving an A.M. in 1905, He established an office in
Cambridge, where he and his associates branched out into city planning as well as
landscape architecture. Nolen was a frequent lectuter on city and town planning, and
was active in many professional organizations, including the American City Planning
Institute (now American Institute of Planners), American Civic Association (now
Utban America), American Society of Landscape Architects, American Society of
Planning Officials, International Garden Cities and Town-Planning Federation,
National Conference on City Planning (now Urban America), and the Town Planning
Institute of England.

COLLECTION DESCRIPTION

Collection consists of personal and professional correspondence, letterbooks,
addresses, biographical data, diaries, scrapbooks, school notes and textbooks, syllabi,
lectures and outlines, typesctipt papers and articles, printed material, policy directives,
card files, sample contracts, projects files and reports, slides, photographs, negatives,
plans, blueprints, drawings, charts, and maps relating to Nolen's work in city planning,
preservation, survey projects, zoning, and extension programs. Includes records
pertaining to Nolen's studies at the University of Pennsylvania and Harvard; his work at
the American Society for the Extension of University Teaching; consulting jobs;
projects with the United States Housing Corporation, National Resources Committee,
National Park Service, National Resources Planning Board, Federal Emergency Relief
Administration of Public Works, Rescttlement Administration, Department of the
Intenor, Division of Subsistence Homesteads, and various city and state agencies; and
housing, parks, streets, railways, and water systems in Bridgeport, Conn., Chatlotte,
N.C,, Clearwater, Clewiston, Sarasota, and Venice, Fla., Columbus, Ga., Johnson City
and Kingsport, Tenn., La Crosse and Madison, Wis., Lancaster and Reading, Pa., Little
Rock, Ark., Mariemont, Ohio, Niagara Falls, N.Y., Riverton, N.J., Roanoke, Va.,
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Sacramento and San Diego, Calif., Boston, Mass., Spartanburg, S.C., Dubuque, Iowa;
and other places.

Includes correspondence from the Marchioness of Aberdeen, Thomas Adams, Captain
S.B. Alexander, Philip R. Allen, Charles B. Ball, Edward M. Bassett, G. Frank Beer,
George A. Bellamy, Russell Van Nest Black, Joshua L. Brooks, Helen E. Chase, Charles
E. Cheney, Richard S. Childs, Herbert C. Chivers, Carlos Contreras, David Cushman
Coyle, Jacob L. Crane, Jt., ]. Benjamin Dimmick, Earle Sumner Draper, Mrs. Thomas
A. Edison, Richard T. Ely, Robert E. Ely, F.F. Feidler, Edward A. Filene, Heanry Ford,
James Ford, Philip W. Foster, Kenneth E. Franzheim, George B. Gallup, Patrick
Geddes, Edward Howard Griggs, Harry Highland, N.J. Hoggson, B.W. Huebsch, John
Ihlder, Mrs. C.B. La Monte, J.E. Latham, Nelson P. Lewis, Arthur MacArthur, George
H. Maxwell, Richard Meinig, John Nolen, Jr., Irving C. Root, Mrs. Robert M. Seymour,
Clarence Stein, Raymond Unwin, Claude G. Varn, Hale J- Walker, Frank B. Williams,
George Zug, American Institute of Architects, Babson Institute, Advisory Committee
on Housing (Boston), Boston Metropolitan Planning Commission, Cleveland City Plan
Commission, General Federation of Women's Clubs, Guggenheim Foundation,
Massachusetts Dept. of Public Welfare, Massachusetts City League, Massachusetts
Federation of Planning Boards, New England Council, New England Regional
Planning Commission, New York Regional Plan Association, Philadelphia Regional
Planning Federation, Russell Sage Foundation, and the Tennessee Valley Authority.
Also, "The Nolen Family Album: A Recotd of Five Generations 1835-1954," family
history, compiled by John Nolen, Jr. and Barbara Nolen Strong, 1980.

Includes results of projects funded by John Nolen Research Fund, broadsides for
Nolen exhibits and symposia, and other Nolen documentation.

SUBJECTS
Names:
Nolen, John,1869-1937.
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ADDENDUM ATTACHMENT III
GOOGLE SEARCH
(P.1 ONLY OF OVER 8000=NOLEN ENTRIES )

Download the original attachment

Web Images Videos Maps News Shopping Gmail more ¥
Books Finance Translate Scholar Blogs
YouTube Calendar Photos Documents Reader Sites Groups
even more »
emc709@gmail.com | Web History | Settings ¥| Sign out
Search settings Google account settings

Google |  Advanced Search

Web
Show options...

Resuits 1 - 10 of about 8,300 for "City Planner John Nolen". (0.17
seconds)

Search Results

1. Downtown Master Plan of 1924 by City Planner John Nolen

HE phenomenal growth of Sarasota, which began in 1923 and
was well under way early in 1924, brought into prominence
various problems of City building which ...
www.sarasotagov.com/NDS/LongRange/NolenPlan/NolenPlan.ht
m - Cached -

2. Kingsport .City Planner John Nolen Of Cambridge, Massachusetts Was

13



- 12:36pm
City Planner John Nolen of Cambridge, Massachusetts was
contracted to design the Model City . Kingsport, the first planned

city in America, was granted a ...
news.google.com/newspapers?nid=12418&dat=20050401&id... -

3. Parks

Landscape architect and city planner John Nolen was hired by
the Board of Park Commissioners to design the first master plan
for the park system in the city ...
lacrossehistory.org/environment/parks.htm - Cached -

4. San Diego History

In 1908, City Planner John Nolen presented a plan to the
directors of the .... precarious situation, though he informed the
city planner, John Nolen: San ...
search.blossom.com/query?id=2078&key=nolen - Cached -

5. Parkway: John Nolen, City & Park Planner

- 12:30pm May 8, 2006 ... When in 1907 Philadelphia native and city planner
John Nolen was hired by merchant George W. Marston on the
recommendation of landscape ...parkwayblog.blogspot.com/2006/.../john-
nolen-city-park-planner.html - Cached —

6. Article: Back to the future. - Sarasota Magazine | HighBeam ...

In many ways, Andres Duany’s new plan for downtown recalls
the 1925 vision of a brilliant predecessor, city planner John
Nolen. ...

www.highbeam.com/doc/1G1-71889505.html - Cached -

7. Preservation Case Study: Venice, Florida
Today few planners have the chance to design an entire town or
city from scratch, but in the early twentieth century, town and city
planner John Nolen ..
www.lalh. org/preservatlon/casevemce html Cached Similar -

8. Coastal Planner Jobs - Search Results | Juju Job Search
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In 1925, the Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers engaged
famous city planner John Nolen and landscape architect
Prentiss French to design and.. few cities ...

www.job-search-engine.comfjobs?k=coastaI+planner - Cached -
9. City planning in West Palm Beach, Florida during the 1920s.

One of the first accomplishments of the Planning Board was to

contract with prominent city planner John Nolen to re-design
West Palm Beach. ... '

digitool.fcla.edu/dtl_publish/26/14776.html - '

10. 1928 Comprehensive Plan

After writing the City's first comprehensive plan for the Women's
Civic Betterment Club in 1907, landscape architect turned city -
planner John Nolen returned ...

www.roanokeva.gov/.../N26ZWSJK389FGUREN - Cached -
Similar -

1234567889 10 Next

Add a result - See all my SearchWiki notes - See all notes for this Searchwiki -
: Learn more '

Search within results - Language Tools - Search Help - Dissatisfied? Help us
improve - Try Google Experimental

Google Home - Advertising Programs - Business Solutions - Privacy - About
Google
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TOPICS IN John Nolen
WISCONSIN
HISTORY Although not from Wisconsin, famed landscape architect

John Nolen (1869-1937) left a lasting mark on the state,
developing plans for the University of Wisconsin, the city
of Madison, and the state park system. A pioneer in the
development of professional city planning, Nolen's
comprehensive approach blended social, economic and
physical aspects of urban life with the preservation of
natural beauty. He felt strongly that “"simple recreation in
the open air amid beautiful surroundings contributes to
physical and moral health, to a saner and happier life,"
and his plan for the city of Madison is considered a pre-
eminent example of the urban landscape movement.

Born in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, on June 14, 1869,
John Nolen was orphaned as a child and placed in the
Girard School for Orphaned Boys by the Children's Aid
Society. Nolen graduated first in his class in 1884 and
worked as a grocery clerk and secretary to the Girard
Estate Trust Fund before enrolling in the Wharton School
of Finance and Economics at the University of John Nolen - WHI 12506
Pennsylvania in 1891.

Working for the American Society for the Extension of University Teaching, Nolen traveled
to England for a conference at Worcester College, Oxford, in 1895, where he first became
interested in architecture and landscape. A second trip to Europe with his wife in 1896 led
to his decision to become a landscape architect. Nolen later cited the grounds surrounding
Worcester College as an inspiration for his plans for Madison.

In 1902 Nolen sold his house and used the money to enroll in the Harvard School of
Landscape Architecture under famed instructors Frederick Law Olmstead, Jr., Arthur
Shurtleff and B.M. Watson. He earned his Master of Arts in 1905 and became a member
of the American Society of Landscape Architects.

In 1908 John Olin of the Madison Park and Pleasure Drive Association contacted Nolen for
advice in laying out Madison city parks. Without the money to pay Nolen, Olin enlisted the
support of the city, the University of Wisconsin and the state. Together they devised a
contract to have Nolen make recommendations for the beautification of each. For the city
of Madison, Nolen recommended establishing boundaries for industry, business,
government and residential life, widening streets and planting trees, increasing land given
to parks and plazas, and regulating the height and style of buildings near the Capitol to
highlight its place at the center of a thriving state.

For the university Nolen proposed the addition of more than 1,000 acres of land that
would include various gardens, an arboretum and a summer engineering camp. Though
built decades later, the pedestrian mall connecting the university to the state Capitol —
State Street — was consistent with Nolen's vision of how the university could transform
Madison cultural life.

Perhaps Nolen's most important contribution, though, was his plan for a state park
system. Having seen the rapid deforestation of northern Wisconsin, the depletion of
mineral resources in the southwest, and increasing urban development, Wisconsin's
progressive leaders sought to protect the state's landscapes before private interests took
complete control. Nolen was hired not only to find locations for parks but also to provide a
reason for their existence. He recommended the creation of four state parks and provided
guidelines for the establishment of a state park system, asserting that natural landscapes
were essential to human happiness. Nolen's plan convinced the state Legislature to
provide an organizational structure and funding for a system of state parks.

With these projects in Wisconsin and earlier efforts in Virginia, Georgia and, in particular,
San Diego, California, Nolen's prestige as an innovative urban planner was firmly
established. By 1919 Nolen had written two books, edited two others and published
dozens of articles. In 1927 he was elected president of the National Conference on City
Planning.

http:f/'www:wisconsinhistoxy.org/topicsfnolenf 1/26/2011
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I Preservation Case Study: Venice, Florida (2006)

Today few planners have the chance to design an entire town or
city from scratch, but in the early twentieth century, town and
city planner John Nolen (1869-1937) had many such
opportunities. Based in Cambridge, Massachusetts, Nolen’s firm
worked on nearly 400 projects all over the country between
1905 and 1937, and designed new towns that include Venice,
on Florida’s rural Gulf Coast; Mariemont, Ohio; and Kingsport,
Tennessee. In an era when industrial pollution and overcrowded
slums blighted America’s urban areas, Nolen wanted cities to
provide, at a minimum, “children well fed, with fit bodies and
active minds; sunlight not obscured by a dense canopy of
smoke; reasonable quiet: and, above all, safety from danger
and disease,” as he wrote in New Towns for Old (1927),
reprinted, with a new introduction, in 2005 by University of
Massachusetts Press in association with LALH,

Nolen’s plan for Venice, Florida, designed in the 1920s for the
Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers, embodied many of his
ideals. It featured a compact urban center surrounded by open
space, streets that provided pleasing views as well as efficient
circulation, human-scaled streetscapes, abundant public parks,
diverse types of housing to accommodate people of different
income levels, and a mix of shops and housing within residential
neighborhoods.

Nolen-era buildings by New York City architects Walker and
Gillette in the Northern Italian Renaissance style are still a
Venice hallmark, but the community’s historical character has
been strained by growth, Its permanent population has risen
from 863 in 1950 to 20,602 today, with a seasonal bulge of
8,500 more, and the town has sprawled beyond its historical
boundaries. Subdivisions and malls stretch north, south, and



east of the city. In the 1960s, the Army Corps of Engineers dug
the Intracoastal Waterway along the city’s southeastern edge,
carving Venice into an island, where.most of the original city
lies.

Also in the 1960s, high-rise condominium development started
along the beachfront, continuing until the late 1980s, says Betty
Intagliata, president of the Venice Historical Society. A
moratorium on high-rise development was in place until about
three years ago, when the planning commission approved three.
Their construction precipitated to a public outcry.

Since then, development issues have heated up, with advocates
for historic preservation, property rights, affordable housing,
and sustainable development all invoking Nolen’s name. In
2005, a developer’s proposal to tear down rental housing in
Nolen’s apartment district and build high-priced condominiums
in its place sparked opposition from neighborhood groups and
the historicat society. Although none of the buildings to be razed
are of architectural or historical value, opponents say that
Nolen’s intended economic diversity, a crucial part of his vision
for Venice, will be erased by such projects. These condos will
start at $720,000, while existing apartments in the
neighborhood rent for about $600 a month. In the early months
of 2006, Nolen’s name peppered articles and op-ed pieces in
local newspapers. (One writer asked, “What would John Nolen
do?") .

Venice City Manager Martin Black, who is trained as a planner,
says he supports Nolen’s principles, but he observes that
today’s planners contend with constraints Nolen never faced,
from environmental and zoning regulations that stymie growth
to state tax and property-rights laws that favor developers. “If
we were to tell the condo developer that he has to rent, not sell,
the units in the rental district, we wouid have to compensate
him for diminution of value under the Bert Harris Act,” says
Black, referring to the state’s property-rights law.

Also, as Black noted in a recent newspaper editorial, the city’s
plan for adjacent areas competes with the county’s vision of
high-density commercial, industrial, and residential
development. Neither level of government has sole jurisdiction,
so each must battle to prevail.

Venice planners hope to create an entirely new community to
balance needs for affordable housing and growth. The plan for
The Bridges, unveiled to the public in February, would occupy
about 150 acres in North Venice. Backed by a local nonprofit
organization, it would offer 800 to 1,000 housing units,
combining market- and below-market-rate housing, including
rental units.

"It reflects many of Nolen’s principles and is targeted for a mix
of work-force housing, new businesses, and community park
areas,” says Black. "We're working with private and nonprofit
entities to provide options that reflect much of what remains



from Nolen’s plan in our historic area.”

Nolen has also been embraced by New Urbanism, a movement
that advocates human-scaled communities with ample open
space and clustered density in mixed-use town and city centers.
Because of that connection, Venice Area Historical Society
president Intagliata urged the city council to adopt New Urbanist
principles. She distributed New Urbanist literature and copies of
the new edition of New Towns for O/d to council members. To
educate the general public, she organized lectures by Nolen
scholars Bruce Stephenson of Rollins College and Charles D.
Warren, who wrote the introduction to the new edition of New
Towns for Oid and was a Town Architect at Seaside, Florida—a
model of New Urbanist planning.

As both a Nolen scholar and a New Urbanist, Warren advises
" caution about replicating Nolen’s notions. “Nolen proposed a
separate town near Venice for black residents, called Little
Harlem. It is just one example of where following Nolen’s plan
can be perilous,” says Warren. He adds that New Urbanists face
different planning problems from those Nolen confronted:
“Nolen set out to de-densify cities, and one of the fundamental
arguments of New Urbanism is that density supports
convenient, pedestrian-oriented town centers.”

While those who want to preserve what they love most about
Venice disagree on some points, they realize that change is
inevitable. Nolen anticipated that, too, as Black, quoting the
earlier planner, noted in his editorial: “A city plan does not
attempt to bind the city too far in the future, but is subject to
amendment from time to time according to new conditions.”
(See related article.)

--Jane Roy Brown

Photographs:

Venice, Fla., residents and local great blue heron. Photo by
Marcia Howard.

John Nolen’s plan for Venice, Fla., published in New Towns for
Old (1927).

Venice Centre Mall, Tampa Avenue, originally the San Marco
Hotel, built by the Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers ca.
1926-27. Photo by Paul Intagliata. Courtesy Venice Area
Historical Society.

Venice City Hall, across West Venice Avenue. Photo by Paul
Intagliata. Courtesy Venice Area Historical Society.

View toward Venice Public Beach. Photo by Robin Karson.
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